Overview of the 2020 List of Support Systems for Entry into Education/Continuing Education & Higher Education/Securing Employment

Kyoto Prefecture

Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education

Contents

Introduction	1
List of Kyoto Prefecture support system supervisory bodies	2
List of local municipal governments and boards of education (and education associations)	4
List of municipal welfare offices	5
List of social welfare council offices	7
Section 1 – Support for Babies and Infants	8
Single mother household educational allowance (grant)	9
Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)	10
Subsidy for childcare fees exemption project for the third and further children (exemption/grant)	11
School enrollment subsidy (grant)	12
Section 2 – Preparing for Entering Elementary School	14
Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	15
Single parent and child/widow welfare interest-free loan for school enrollment preparation	16
Section 3 – Support for Elementary School Students	17
Single mother household educational allowance (grant)	18
Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)	19
Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	20
School enrollment support subsidy (grant)	21
School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs classes) (grant)	22
School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs schools) (grant)	23
Learning support subsidy for private junior high school students (grant for school)	25

School trip subsidy (grant)	26
Learning subsidy for children at non-Japanese schools (grant)	27
Section 4 – Preparing for Entering Junior High School	28
Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	29
Single parent and child/widow welfare interest-free loan for school enrollment preparation	30
Section 5 – Support for Junior High School Students	31
Single mother household educational allowance (grant)	32
Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)	33
Educational assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	34
School enrollment support subsidy (grant)	35
School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs classes) (grant)	36
School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs schools) (grant)	37
Learning support subsidy for private junior high school students (grant for school)	39
School trip subsidy (grant)	40
Learning subsidy for students at non-Japanese schools (grant)	41
Section 6 – Preparing for Entering Senior High School, etc.	42
Senior high school enrollment social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	43
Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant)	44
Daily life welfare loan - Education support loan (interest-free loan)	47
Single parent and child/widow welfare loan - Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free loan)	49
Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)	51
Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning preparation loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)	54
Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (interest-free loan)	56

Section 7 – Support for Senior High School Students etc.	58
Senior high school enrollment social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	59
Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant)	60
Senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant)	63
Single mother household educational allowance etc. (grant)	64
Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)	66
School enrollment subsidy (Special Needs Education Schools) (grant)	68
Funding to cover commuting expenses of senior high school students (grant)	70
Subsidies for part-time or correspondence course textbook fees	72
Part-time or correspondence course scholarship (interest-free loan)	73
Public senior high school enrollment assistance grant (paid to schools)	74
Senior high school enrollment assistance grant (paid to schools)	76
Learning support for students who are registered at private senior high schools (school fees reduction or exemption, or tuition reduction)	77
School fees reduction for students who are registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo Prefecture	78
Learning support for students who are registered for advanced courses at private senior high schools (paid to schools)	79
Daily life welfare loan "Educational support fund" (interest-free loan)	80
Single parent and child welfare loan "learning loan" (interest-free loan)	81
Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)	83
Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning preparation loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)	85
Tuition fee reduction or exemption for higher education	87
Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (Ioan)	88
Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (grant)	90
Section 8 – For University etc. Enrollment Preparation	91
Enrollment preparation subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	92
Daily life welfare loan (interest-free education support loan)	93

Single parent and child welfare loan –Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free loan)	94
Tuition fee reduction or exemption for higher education	96
Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (loan)	97
Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (grant)	99
Section 9 - For Employment Preparation After Graduating Junior High Schools and Senior High Schools	100
(Including Schools for Special Needs Education) etc.	
Skill acquisition social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	101
Employment preparation fund according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)	102
Skill acquisition fund/preparation fund for entry into institutions (grant)	103
Training benefit /enrollment preparation fund (grant)	104
Job training support for people with disabilities (grant)	105
Single parent and child welfare loan –Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free loan)	106
Nursing training loan (interest-free loan)	107
Certified care worker training loan (interest-free loan)	108
Certified nursery teacher training loan (interest-free loan)	109
Reference materials	110
Child allowance (grant)	111
Child support allowance (grant)	112
Special child support allowance (grant)	113
Welfare allowance for children with disabilities (grant)	114
Small sum loan from Mother-and-Child welfare organization (interest-free loan)	115
Kyoto Prefectural Government Supervisory Divisions for Each Support System	116

Introduction:

Respect for human rights has become a strong trend internationally. Kyoto Prefecture is moving forward with projects to find a solution to human rights problems, such as discrimination, in order to realize a society in which dignity and human rights between individuals are respected. Everybody must be guaranteed the right to fulfill their desires pertaining to study, gaining qualifications for enrollment in a particular school, and entering work of their choice.

In order that the fulfillment of enrolling into schools, learning at schools, skill acquisition and entering work is not restricted by financial constraints, Kyoto Prefecture provides a multi-tiered support system. As detailed in article 97 of the Japanese constitution, 'fundamental human rights are the fruit of years of effort by mankind for gaining freedom'. Likewise, this support system has been built-up due to the efforts of our predecessors.

Those interested in receiving support should consult in depth with their parents/guardians and teachers at school and then make full use of the system in order to open up their future and create a society in which mutual human rights are respected.

- Kyoto prefectural municipalities organize other support systems independently. Please do not hesitate to make necessary enquiries to your local municipal government.
- When applying, please make the necessary enquiries to the appropriate office as the content of the articles contained within this guide are partially subject to change.
- Kyoto City, an ordinance designated city, organizes support systems independently.
 For any details, please contact the Kyoto City government offices or call the Kyoto City Consultation
 Center (kyouto-itsudemo-coru) at 075-661-3755 between 8:00 am and 9:00 pm.
 The center is open seven days a week.

LIST OF KYOTO PREFECTURE SUPPORT SYSTEM SUPERVISORY BODIES

Kyoto Prefectural Government Offices	
Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance	e
School Education Division	075-414-5831
Special Needs Education Division	075-414-5835
Senior High School Education Division	075-574-7518
Department of Culture and Sports	
Education Division	075-414-4516
Department of Citizens' Affairs and the Environment	
Community Safety Promotion Division	075-414-5076
Department of Commerce, Labor and Tourism	
Human Resources Development Promotion Division	075-414-5101
Human Resources Promotion Office	075-682-8918
Department of Health and Welfare	
Medical Care Division	075-414-4746
Regional Welfare Promotion Division	075-414-4564
	075-414-4558
Family Assistance Division	075-414-4585
Comprehensive Children's and Youth's Affairs Office	075-414-4581
Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidano	е
Human Rights Education Office	075-414-5822

Regional Promotion Offices	Public Health Centers	Regional bodies	Education Bureaus
	0.1	Muko City	
	Otokuni Public Health Center	Nagaokakyo City	Otokuni Education Bureau 075-933-5130
	075-933-1151	Oyamazaki Town	070 000 0100
	Yamashiro Kita Public Health	Uji City*	
	Center	Joyo City*	
	0774-21-2191	Kumiyama Town*	
Yamashiro Regional	Yamashiro Kita Public Health	Yawata City	
Promotion Office	Center Tsuzuki Branch Office	Kyotanabe City	
0774-21-2101	0774-63-5745	Ide Town	Yamashiro Education Bureau
	0774-03-3743	Ujitawara Town	0774-62-0008
		Kizugawa City	
	Yamashiro Minami Public	Kasagi Town	
	Health Center	Wazuka Town	
	0774-72-4300	Seika Town	
		Minami Yamashiro Village	
Nantan Regional	Nantan Public Health	Kameoka City	
Promotion Office	Center	Nantan City	Nantan Education Bureau 0771-62-0304
0771-22-0422	0771-62-4751	Kyotamba Town	
Chutan Regional Promotion Office 0773-62-2500	Chutan Nishi Public Health Center 0773-22-5744	Fukuchiyama City	Chutan Education Bureau
	Chutan Higashi Public Health	Ayabe City	0773-42-1200
	Center 0773-75-0805	Maizuru City	
Tango Regional Promotion Office 0772-62-4301		Miyazu City	
	Tango Public Health Center	Kyotango City	Tango Education Bureau
	0772-62-0361	Yosano Town	0772-22-2175
		Ine Town	

^{*} Yamashiro Kita Public Health Center Tsuzuki Branch Office is in charge of subsidies described on Pages 48-50, Pages 64-66, and Page 106.

List of local municipal governments and boards of education

Page 4

1 0				
Muko City	Tel: 075-931-1111	Muko City Board of Education	Tel: 075-931-1111	
Nagaokakyo City	Tel: 075-951-2121	Nagaokakyo City Board of Education	Tel: 075-951-2121	
Oyamazaki Town	Tel: 075-956-2101	Oyamazaki Town Board of Education	Tel: 075-956-2101	
Uji City	Tel: 0774-22-3141	Uji City Board of Education	Tel: 0774-22-3141	
Joyo City	Tel: 0774-52-1111	Joyo City Board of Education	Tel: 0774-56-4003	
Yawata City	Tel: 075-983-1111	Yawata City Board of Education	Tel: 075-983-2088	
Kyotanabe City	Tel: 0774-63-1122	Kyotanabe City Board of Education	Tel: 0774-62-9550	
Kizugawa City	Tel: 0774-72-0501	Kizugawa City Board of Education	Tel: 0774-75-1230	
Kumiyama Town	Tel: 075-631-6111	Kumiyama Town Board of Education	Tel: 075-631-9974	
Ide Town	Tel: 0774-82-2001	Ide Town Board of Education	Tel: 0774-82-4333	
Ujitawara Town	Tel: 0774-88-2250	Ujitawara Town Board of Education	Tel: 0774-88-5850	
Seika Town	Tel: 0774-94-2004	Seika Town Board of Education	Tel: 0774-95-1906	
Kasagi Town	Tel: 0743-95-2301	Occales Takes Basis and		
Wazuka Town	Tel: 0774-78-3001	Soraku-Tobu Regional	Tel: 0774-78-4335	
Minami-Yamashiro Village	Tel: 0743-93-0101	Council Board of Education		
Kameoka City	Tel: 0771-22-3131	Kameoka City Board of Education	Tel: 0771-25-5053	
Nantan City	Tel: 0771-68-0001	Nantan City Board of Education	Tel: 0771-68-0056	
Kyotamba Town	Tel: 0771-84-0200	Kyotamba Town Board of Education	Tel: 0771-84-0028	
Ayabe City	Tel: 0773-42-3280	Ayabe City Board of Education	Tel: 0773-42-3280	
Fukuchiyama City	Tel: 0773-22-6111	Fukuchiyama City Board of Education	Tel: 0773-24-7062	
Maizuru City	Tel: 0773-62-2300	Maizuru City Board of Education	Tel: 0773-66-1072	
Miyazu City	Tel: 0772-22-2121	Miyazu City Board of Education	Tel: 0772-22-2121	
Kyotango City	Tel: 0772-69-0001	Kyotango City Board of Education	Tel: 0772-69-0620	
Ine Town	Tel: 0772-32-0501	Ine Town Board of Education	Tel: 0772-32-0718	
		Yosano-Town Board of Education	Tel: 0772-43-9025	
Yosano Town	Tel: 0772-43-9000	Yosano-Town and		
100ano 10wn	101.0112 40 0000	Miyazu-City Junior High Tel: 0772-43-90		
		School Association Board of Education		
Kyoto City	Tel: 075-222-3111	Kyoto City Board of Education	Tel: 075-222-3767	

Page 5,6 List of municipal welfare offices

Name	Telephone number	
Kyoto Prefectural Yamashiro Regional Promotion Office	075-933-1154	
(Department of Health and Welfare, Otokuni Public Health Center)	075-933-1154	
Kyoto Prefectural Yamashiro Regional Promotion Office		
(Department of Health and Welfare, Yamashiro-kita Public Health Center, Tsuzuki	0774-63-5747	
Branch Office)		
Kyoto Prefectural Yamashiro Regional Promotion Office	0774-72-0208	
(Department of Health and Welfare, Yamashiro-minami Public Health Center)	0114-12-0200	
Kyoto Prefectural Nantan Regional Promotion Office	0771-62-0363	
(Department of Health and Welfare, Nantan Public Health Center)	0771-02-0303	
Kyoto Prefectural Tango Regional Promotion Office	0772-62-4302	
(Department of Health and Welfare, Tango Public Health Center)	0772-02-4302	
Fukuchiyama City Welfare Office	0773-24-7012	
Maizuru City Welfare Office	0773-66-1010	
Maizuru City Welfare Office, Maizuru City Hall Nishi Branch Office	0773-77-2253	
Ayabe City Welfare Office	0773-42-4257	
Uji City Welfare Office	0774-22-3141	
Miyazu City Welfare Office	0772-45-1623	
Kameoka City Welfare Office	0771-25-5030	
Joyo City Welfare Office	0774-56-4034	
Muko City Welfare Office	075-931-1111	
Nagaokakyo City Welfare Office	075-955-9517	
Yawata City Welfare Office	075-983-1111	
Kyotanabe City Welfare Office	0774-63-1122	
Kyotango City Welfare Office	0772-69-0310	
Nantan City Welfare Office	0771-68-0007	
Kizugawa City Welfare Office	0774-79-0307	
Kita Welfare Office	075-432-1181	
Kamigyo Welfare Office	075-441-0111	
Sakyo Welfare Office	075-702-1000	
Nakagyo Welfare Office	075-812-0061	
Higashiyama Welfare Office	075-561-1191	
Yamashina Welfare Office	075-592-3050	
Shimogyo Welfare Office	075-371-7101	
Minami Welfare Office	075-681-3111	
Ukyo Welfare Office	075-861-1101	
Nishikyo Welfare Office	075-381-7121	
Rakusai Welfare Office	075-332-8111	

Fushimi Welfare Office	075-611-1101
Fukakusa Welfare Office	075-642-3101
Daigo Welfare Office	075-571-0003

Page 7
List of social welfare council offices

Area	Telephone number	Area	Telephone number
Kita Ward	075-441-1900	Kyotamba Town	0771-86-1440
Kamigyo Ward	075-432-9535	Ine Town	0772-32-0176
Sakyo Ward	075-723-5666	Yosano Town	0772-43-0294
Nakagyo Ward	075-822-1011	Miwa branch office	0773-58-3713
Higashiyama Ward	075-551-4849	Yakuno branch office	0773-38-1200
Yamashina Ward	075-593-1294	Oe branch office	0773-56-0224
Shimogyo Ward	075-361-1881	Mineyama branch office	0772-62-4128
Minami Ward	075-671-0709	Omiya branch office	0772-64-2037
Ukyo Ward	075-865-1150	Amino branch office	0772-72-0797
Nishikyo Ward	075-394-5711	Tango branch office	0772-75-0808
Fushimi Ward	075-604-6541	Kumihama branch office	0772-82-0008
Fushimi Ward – Daigo branch office	075-575-2070	Sonobe Office	0771-62-4125
Fukuchiyama City	0773-25-3211	Yagi Office	0771-42-5480
Maizuru City	0773-62-7044	Hiyoshi Office	0771-72-0947
Ayabe City	0773-43-2881	Miyama Office	0771-75-0020
Uji City	0774-22-5650	Yamashiro branch office	0774-86-4151
Miyazu City	0772-22-2090	Kizu branch office	0774-72-5532
Kameoka City	0771-23-6711	Kamo branch office	0774-76-4338
Joyo City	0774-56-0909	Tamba branch office	0771-82-0126
Muko City	075-932-1961	Mizuho branch office	0771-86-1440
Nagaokakyo City	050-7105-8508	Wachi branch office	0771-84-1833
Yawata City	075-983-4450	Kaya branch office	0772-42-7553
Kyotanabe City	0774-62-2222	Iwataki branch office	0772-46-5556
Kyotango City	0772-65-2100	Nodagawa branch office	0772-43-0294
Nantan City	0771-72-3220	Kyoto City	075-354-8734
Kizugawa City	0774-71-9559	Kyoto Prefecture	075-252-6293
Oyamazaki Town	075-957-4100		
Kumiyama Town	075-631-0022		
Ide Town	0774-82-3499		
Ujitawara Town	0774-88-3294		
Kasagi Town	0743-95-2750		
Wazuka Town	0774-78-3312		
Seika Town	0774-94-4573		
Minami-Yamashiro Village	0743-93-1201		

Section 1 – Support for Babies and Infants

[Support for Babies and Infants]

Name: Single mother household educational allowance (grant)

Content	Provide financial support necessary for education and child-raising expenses to mother of single mother household			
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture			
Eligibility	Mother of single mother household residing in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) who is supporting baby/infant Those who receive the grant described on page 10 are excluded.			
Grant amount	11,000 yen (annually) per child (The payment of application received after June 1 st or payment for a person becoming eligible during the relevant academic year will be made on a monthly installment.)			
	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment day
Application period and period of payment	Applicants who are eligible as of April 1 of the year of application	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	End of August
		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March
	Applicants who are eligible from April 2 onwards of year of application	April – May	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	End of August
		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March
Application documents	Submit an application form and proof of eligibility authorized by single-parent household welfare promotions officer or case worker/child welfare officer to your local municipal government (excluding Kyoto City).			
	The application forms are available at prefectural public health centers or municipal governments (excluding Kyoto City).			
Enquiries	For details, please contact your local municipal government (excluding Kyoto City) or your local prefectural public health center (page 2,3).			
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.			

Name: Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)

Content	Provide scholarship fund for the general well-being of babies or infants who have lost one/both parent(s) such as parent in a traffic accident			
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture			
Eligibility	Babies and Infants living within Kyoto Prefecture (including Kyoto City) who have lost parents or parents/guardians in a traffic accident. Those who receive the grant described on page 9 are excluded.			
Grant amount	11,000 yen (annually) per child (The payment of applications received after June 1 st or payment for a person becoming eligible during the relevant academic year will be made in monthly installments.)			
	From April to last day Application can be refollowing year.).	y of May eceived any time after th	nis day (until the last da	ay of February of the
	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment day
Application period/period of payment	Applicants who are	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	Last day of August
	eligible as of April 1 of the year of application	June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of the month following month of application if after end of August
	Applicants who are eligible from April 2	April – May	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of August
	onwards of year of application	June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of the month following month of application if after end of August
	Submit grant payment application form for the fund etc. for children of traffic victims attached with the following forms:			
Application documents	 Proof authorized by case worker/child welfare officer or death certificate (a copy)/traffic accident certificate (a copy) Proof by the head of municipality 			
	The application forms are available at municipal governments and the Kyoto Prefectural Government offices.			
Apply to	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division, or Prefectural Regional Promotion Offices			
Enquire	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)			
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.			

Page 11

[Support for Babies and Infants]

Name: Subsidy for childcare fees exemption project for the third and further children (exemption/grant)

Content	Exempt or subsidize childcare fees for the third and further children enrolling in nurseries or kindergartens. Kyoto Prefecture does not provide the funds directly to parents/guardians. Kyoto Prefecture provides 1/2 of the childcare fee exemption amount to Kyoto Prefectural municipal governments in charge of the exemption procedures.
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture and Kyoto Prefectural municipal governments
Eligibility	Households raising three or more children who are under 18 years old (including the period between the day after reaching 18 until the end of the current academic year) and whose third child is registered in a nursery or kindergarten, and they pay means-tested municipal resident tax of less than certain levels of the income standards. Please contact your local municipal government for details.
Exempted amount	Total childcare fees for the third and further children
Enquire	Please contact your local municipal government for details (page 3).
Remarks	

Page 12,13

[Support for Kindergarten Children for Special Needs Education Schools]

Name: School enrollment subsidy (grant)

Content	Cover part or all of the necessary financial expenses for enrolling into school at special needs education to alleviate the financial burden of the parents/guardians in consideration to the level of payment ability.
Operating body	National Government/Kyoto Prefecture
Eligibility	Kindergarten pupils registered at Kyoto Prefectural schools for special needs education
Grant amount	Please see the attached list. * The grant amount (Stages I, II, and III) is dependent upon the parents/guardians' income.
Application period	Varies according to the school
Period of payment	Varies according to the school
Apply to	Submit an application form to the school for special needs education at which your children are registered. Application forms are available at your school for special needs education.
Enquiries	Please contact the special needs education school at which your children are registered, or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5835)
Remarks	The grant amounts are extracted from year 2020 projected figures.

List of grant amount limits

Type* ⁴	[Stage I]	[Stage II]	[Stage III]			
School meals expenses	Full amount	1/2 of the actual amount	-			
Transportation expenses						
School commuting/transportation	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount			
School commuting/transportation expenses for an attendant	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount			
Homecoming expenses (39 round trips)	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount			
Homecoming expenses for an attendant (39 round trips)	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount			
Exchange and joint educational programs	Full amount	Full amount	1/2 of the amount			
Expenses relating to dormitory accommodation	Expenses relating to dormitory accommodation					
Bedclothes expenses	up to 5,510 yen	up to 2,755 yen	-			
Daily necessities expenses	up to 141,560 yen	up to 70,780 yen	-			
Food expenses	up to 156,210 yen	up to 78,105 yen	-			
Main school trip expenses	Main school trip expenses					
Out-of-school activities	up to 1,600 yen	up to 800 yen	-			
Out-of-school activities expenses for an attendant	up to 2,390 yen	up to 1,195 yen	-			
School equipment expenses	up to 8,680 yen	up to 4,340 yen	-			
* The above amounts are extracted from year 2020 projected figures.						

Section 2 – Preparing for Entering Elementary School

Name: Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provide a grant to children of the households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law entering elementary schools (including the first half period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education elementary schools. The same shall apply on this page.) to help purchase school wear, school bags, school shoes, etc. and other school equipment necessary for elementary schools (including first term curriculum for compulsory education schools, and special needs education elementary schools)
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City
Eligibility	Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law entering elementary schools in the next academic year.
	[Temporary Livelihood Support Subsidy] School enrollment preparation costs School clothes, school bag, school shoes, etc. (at the time of entering elementary school) Up to 64,300 yen
	[Livelihood Support Subsidy for Education] – The amounts below are also described on page 22. Standard education support amount
	School equipment expenses – pencils, erasers, rulers, calligraphy equipment, sewing set, shoes for physical education, etc.
Grant amount	Other educational expenses – extra-curricular activities, school commute travel expenses, other expenses (such as school shoes, indoor shoes, hats, etc.)
Grant amount	Class fees, PTA fees, Pupils Association fees, etc. Up to 850 yen monthly
	Expenses for school textbooks and materials specified by school head or education board (books, workbook, dictionary, musical -instruments)
	School meals covered by parents/guardians Full amount
	Expenses for out-of- school activities – accommodation, facility usage, transportation, etc.
	Minimum school commuting expenses necessary for commuting
	Extra-curricular activities Full amount (up to 16,000 yen annually)
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local city welfare office (page 5, 6).
Remarks	The grant amounts for the children receiving the subsidy described on page 23 may vary according to the type of expense.

[※]The above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020, and they are subject to change.

[Preparing for Entering Elementary School]

Name: Single parent and child/widow welfare interest-free loan for school enrollment preparation

Content	Promote the welfare of pupils of single parent households by providing a loan to cover the expenses directly necessary for the purchase of clothes/shoes etc. at the time of entering elementary schools (including the first half period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education elementary schools)	
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture	
Eligibility	Parents of single parent households who reside in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) and currently are supporting children entering elementary schools (including the first half period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education elementary schools) in the next academic year.	
Loan amount	School enrollment preparation expenses up to 63,100 yen per child (interest-free loan)	
Application period	Prior to school entry	
Loan commencement	After the loan is approved and the loan documents etc. have been dispatched	
Application documents	Please consult your local prefectural public health center (page 2,3) in prior to application. An application form is attached with: 1. notification of school enrollment/document specifying necessary expenses 2. family register or certificate of contents stated in family register 3. residence record of the all members of the household (must be stated in full) 4. seal registration certificate 5. proof of dependent(s) 6. proof of earnings (income) 7. pledge and consent form Application forms are available at prefectural public health centers.	
Enquire	For details, please contact your local prefectural public health center (page 2,3).	

 $[\]frak{X}$ The above amounts are correct as of March 2020, and they are subject to change.

Section 3 – Support for Elementary School Students

Name: Single mother household educational allowance (grant)

Content	Provide financial support necessary for education and child-raising expenses to the mother of single mother households.				
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture				
Eligibility	is supporting an e	The mother of a single mother household residing in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) who is supporting an elementary school (including the first half period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education school) pupil. Those who receive the grant described on page 19 are excluded.			
Grant amount	1	application received after	June 1 st or payment for a person de on a monthly installment.)	becoming eligible	
	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment month	
	Applicants who are eligible as of April 1 of the year of application	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	End of August	
Application period and period of payment		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March	
	Applicants who are eligible from	April – May	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	End of August	
	April 2 onwards of year of application	June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March	
Application documents	Submit an application form and proof of eligibility authorized by a single-parent household welfare promotions officer or case worker/child welfare officer to your local municipal government (excluding Kyoto City).				
	The application forms are available at prefectural public health centers or municipal governments (excluding Kyoto City).				
Applications/Enquiries	For details, please contact your local municipal government or prefectural public health center (page 2,3).				
Remarks	Application needs	Application needs to be submitted annually.			

Name: Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)

Content	Provide scholarship to elementary school pupils (including the first half period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education schools) living in Kyoto Prefecture, who have lost one/both parent(s) in a traffic accident.				
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture				
Eligibility	Elementary school (including the first half period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education schools) pupils who are living within Kyoto Prefecture and have lost one/both parent(s) in a traffic accident. Those who receive the grant described on page 18 are excluded.				
Grant amount	Scholarship 21,500 yen (annually) per child (The payment of application received after June 1 st or payment for those who become eligible during the relevant academic year will be made on a monthly installment.)				
	From April to last day Application can be re- following year)		day (until the last day of	February of the	
	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment day	
	Applicants who are eligible as of April 1 of the year of application	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	Last day of August	
Application period/period of payment		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of the month following month of application if after end of August	
	Applicants who are eligible from April 2 onwards of year of application	April – May	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of August	
		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of the month following month of application if after end of August	
	Grant payment applic following forms:	ation form for the fund et	c. for orphans of traffic vio	ctims attached with the	
Application documents	 Proof authorized by case worker/child welfare officer or death certificate/traffic accident certificate Proof by the head of school (however, not necessary if proof of registration is attached.) Proof by the head of municipality The application forms are available at municipal governments and the Kyoto Prefectural				
Apply to	Government offices. Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division or Prefectural Regional Promotion Offices				
Enquire	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)				
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.				

Name: Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provide a grant to children of the households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law with the payment of school equipment necessary for the compulsory education and school commuting as well as school meal expenses etc.				
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyo	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City			
Eligibility	Elementary school pupils of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law (including the first half period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education schools)				
	[Livelihood Support S	Subsidy for Education]			
	Standard education	support amount			
	1 1	expenses – pencils, erasers, equipment, sewing set, shoes for etc.			
	Other educational expenses – extra-curricular activities, school commute travel expenses, other expenses (such as school shoes, indoor shoes, hats, etc.)		2,600 ye	2,600 yen monthly	
	Class fees, PTA fee	es, pupils association fees etc.	Up to 850	0 yen monthly	
	Expenses for school textbooks and materials specified by school head or education board (books, workbooks, dictionaries, musical instruments)		Full amount		
	School meals covered by parents/guardians		Full amount		
Grant amount	Expenses for out-of-school activities – accommodation, facility usage, transportation, etc.		Full amount		
	Minimum school commuting expenses necessary for commuting		Full amount		
	Extra-curricular activities, etc.		Full amount (up to 16,000 yen annually)		
	[Temporary Livelihoo	nd Support Subsidyl			
	Type	Description		amount	
	Clothing	School-wear of pupils at the time of advancing to the 4 th grade, etc.		Up to 14,000 yen	
	Please apply for the school enrollment support subsidy on page 21 for school trip expenses. Please apply for the school trip preparation subsidy on page 26 for school trip preparation expenses.				
Enquire	For details, please contact your local municipal welfare office (page 5,6).				
Remarks	The grant amounts for the children enrolling in special needs education schools and receiving the subsidy described on page 23 may vary.				

[%]The above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020, and they are subject to change.

[Support for Elementary School Students]

Name: School enrollment support subsidy (grant)

Content	Provide support with the provision of school equipment expenses etc. to the parents/guardians of pupils who are recognized to be experiencing financial difficulties in enrolling in schools		
Operating body	National/Municipal governments		
Eligibility	Households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law Households not covered by the Livelihood Protection Law but experiencing financial difficulties		
	The grant items and amounts etc. vary according to the municipality		
Grant amount	 Parents/guardians covered by the Livelihood Protection Law Main school trip expenses, medical expenses, etc. (The subsidies (specified on page 20) are not included.) Parents/guardians experiencing financial difficulties School equipment expenses, school commuting equipment expenses, out-of-school activities expenses, school commuting expenses, main school trip expenses, medical expenses (only those paid by the parents/guardians for illnesses included in the School Health and Safety Act), school meal expenses, etc. 		
Application period	Beginning of the academic year (mid-year applications also accepted any time) Varies according to the municipal government and academic year.		
Application documents	Submit an application form and necessary attachments to your school or municipal board of education (and associations). *Application forms and attached documents vary according to municipality		
Supervisory division	For details, please contact your local municipality's board of education (and association) (page 4).		
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.		

[Support for Elementary School Students Registered at Special Needs Classes]

Name: School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs classes) (grant)

Content	Cover part or all of the necessary financial expenses for enrolling into elementary school at special needs classes to alleviate the financial burden of the parents/guardians in consideration to the level of payment ability.				
Operating body	National/Municipal governments				
Eligibility	Pupils with disabilities falling in the level stipulated by Article 22-3 of the School Education Law or registered at special needs classes at their elementary school *Those who receive the either/both of the grants listed on page 20 and 21 are eligible only for a part of expenses.				
	* Support amounts listed are those 2020) and there may be differences a	-			
	Туре	181	III		
	School meal expenses	1/2 of full amount	_		
	School commuting expenses	Full amount	1/2 of full amount		
	Study exchange program and transportation expenses	Full amount	1/2 of full amount		
	Main school trip expenses	10,790 yen	_		
	Expenses for extracurricular activities that do not require accommodation	800 yen	-		
Grant amount	Extracurricular activities that require accommodation	1,845 yen	_		
	School equipment expenses	5,820 yen	_		
	School equipment expenses etc. for newly-enrolled students when the children enter a school	25,555 yen	-		
	Sports equipment expenses (skiing, etc.)	13,255 yen	-		
	Enlarged teaching materials expenses	On the basis that it costs up to 42 yen per page, half of the final amount shall be covered (up to a limit of 5,250 yen per book)	-		
	The grant amounts (Types I, II and III) vary according to the parents/guardians' income.				
Application period	Varies according to the municipal government.				
Application documents	Application form authorized by the municipal boards of education and necessary attachments				
Enquiries	For details, please contact your local municipality's board of education (and association) (page 4).				
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.				
	•				

[Support for Elementary School Pupils for Special Needs Education Schools]

Name: School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs schools) (grant)

Content	Cover part or all of the necessary financial expenses for enrolling into special needs education school to alleviate the financial burden of the parents/guardians in consideration to the level of payment ability.
Operating body	National Government/Kyoto Prefecture
Eligibility	Elementary school pupils registered at Kyoto Prefectural schools for special needs education
Grant amount	Please see the attached list. *1 The grant amounts vary according to the parents/guardians' income. *2 Those grants are provided to attendants for orthopedically impaired students or severe and multiple disabled students. *3 Those grants are provided to attendants for orthopedically impaired students or severe and multiple disabled students.
Application period	Varies according to the school
Period of payment	Varies according to the school
Apply to	Submit an application form and necessary attachment to school for special needs education at which your children are registered. Application forms are available at the schools.
Enquiries	Please contact the special needs education school at which your children are registered, or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5835)
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually. The amounts are extracted from year 2020 projected figures.

Type*1		[Stage I]	[Stage II]	【Stage III】
School meals expenses		Full amount	1/2 of the amount	-
Transportation expenses				
School commuting/transportation		Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
School commuting/transportation expenses for an attendant			he 1 st , 2 nd , 3 rd grades he 4 th , 5 th , 6 th grades * ²	
Homecoming expenses (39 round trips)		Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
Homecoming expenses for an attendant (39 round	trips)	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
Exchange and joint educational programs		Full amount	Full amount	1/2 of full amount
Expenses relating to dormitory accommodation				
Bedclothes expenses	up to 5	,510 yen	up to 2,755 yen	-
Daily necessities expenses	up to14	11,560 yen	up to 70,780 yen	-
Food expenses up t		48,850 yen up to 74,425 yen		-
School trip expenses				
Main school trip expenses up to 2		1,580 yen	1up to 10,790 yen	-
Main school trip expenses for an attendant*3	up to 33,730 yen		up to 16,865 yen	-
Out-of-school activities	up to 1	8,580 yen	up to 9,290 yen	-
Out-of-school activities expenses for an attendant	27,870 yen for the 1 st , 2 nd , 3 rd grades 27,870 yen for the 4 th , 5 th , 6 th grades *2		13,935 yen for the 1 st , 2 nd , 3 rd grades 13,935 yen for the 4 th , 5 th , 6 th grades * ²	-
School equipment expenses	up to 11,640 yen		up to 5,820 yen	-
Enlarged teaching materials expenses – on the basis that it costs up to 42 yen per page	Up to 10,500 yen per book		Half amount of Stage I	-
School equipment expenses etc. for newly-enrolled students when the child enters a school	51,110	yen	25,555 yen	-

[Support for Elementary School Students]

Name: Learning support subsidy for private junior high school students (grant for school)

0 1 1		
Content	Provide a fixed grant for tuition fees of private elementary school students	
Operating body	National government	
Eligibility	Children of households with an annual income of less than 4 million yen who are registered at private elementary schools	
	The above income amount serves as a reference and varies depending on each household. For further information, please check the application form.	
Grant amount	100,000 yen annually	
Application period/period of payment	Varies according to the school.	
Application documents	Information provided by the school. Submit an application form and necessary attachments to the school. Proof of annual earnings necessary.	
Apply to/Enquire	For details, contact the school at which your child(ren) is/are registered or the Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (075-414-4516)	
Remarks	Application must be submitted annually. Questionnaires must be completed separately.	

[Support for Elementary School Students]

Name: School trip subsidy (grant)

Content	Provide support to elementary school students of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law to assist with the preparation expenses for the main school trip	
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture	
Eligibility	Residents of Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) covered by the Livelihood Protection Law who need to purchase necessary equipment (bag, underwear, shoes, a pair of socks, etc.) for the main school trip for elementary school children who belong to the household	
Grant amount	5,800 yen/child	
Application period/period of payment	All year round	
Application documents	Application form	
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local welfare office (page 5, 6).	
Remarks	Please apply for the school enrollment support subsidy on page 21 for the main school trip expenses.	

Page 27

[Support for Students Enrolling in Elementary School Section (shokyu gakkosei)]

Name: Learning subsidy for children at non-Japanese schools (grant)

Content	Provide a grant to children of the households of foreign nationals covered by the Livelihood Protection Law to help with the purchase of school equipment, school commuting, school meals, etc.	
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture	
Eligibility	Persons covered by the Livelihood Protection Law residing in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) who bear the expenses for school fees of children registered at the elementary school section of the Kyoto Korean School (gakko-hojin kyouto chosen gakuen)	
Grant amount	The grant amounts vary according to the education support standard of the Livelihood Protection Law.	
Apply to	School at which your children are registered	
Enquire	Kyoto Prefectural Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4557/4564)	
Remarks	Application needs to be made annually.	

Section 4 – Preparing for Entering Junior High School

Name: Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provide a grant to children of the households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law preparing to enter junior high schools (including the latter period course of compulsory education schools, special needs education junior high schools, and the first half period courses of middle schools (only if a livelihood protection authority approves the enrollment in school) The same shall apply on this page.) with the payment of school wear, school bags, school shoes, etc.			
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City		
Eligibility	Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law entering junior high schools in the next academic year.			
	[Temporary Livelihood support Subsidy]			
	School enrollment preparation costs	School enrollment preparation costs		
	Student's wear, school bag, school shoes, etc. (at the time of entering elementary school)	o 81,000 yen		
	[Livelihood Support Subsidy for Education] – In addition page 34 are provided.	to the above grant, the grant items on		
	Standard education support amount			
Grant amount	School equipment expenses – pencils, erasers, rulers, calligraphy equipment, sewing set, shoes for physical education, etc.	5,100 yen monthly		
	Other educational expenses – extra-curricular activities, school commute travel expenses, other expenses (such as school shoes, indoor shoes, hats, etc.)			
	Class fees, PTA fees, pupils association fees etc.	Up to 770 yen monthly		
	Expenses for school textbooks and materials specified by school head or education board (books, workbooks, dictionaries, musical instruments)	Full amount		
	School meals covered by parents/guardians	Full amount		
	Expenses for out-of-school activities – accommodation, facility usage, transportation, etc.	Full amount		
	Minimum school commuting expenses necessary for commuting	Full amount		
	Extra-curricular activities, etc.	Full amount (Up to 59,800 yen annually)		
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local city welfare office (page 5,6).			
Remarks	The grant amounts for the children receiving the subsidy described on page 37 may vary.			

[%]The above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020, and they are subject to change.

[Preparing for Entering Junior High School]

Name: Single parent and child/widow welfare interest-free loan for school enrollment preparation

Content	Provide a loan to a child of single parent household to cover the expenses directly necessary for the purchase of clothes/shoes etc. at the time of entering junior high schools (including the latter period courses of compulsory education schools and special needs education junior high schools).		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Parents of single parent households who reside in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) and are currently supporting children entering junior high schools (including the latter period courses of compulsory education schools and special needs education junior schools) in the next academic year		
Loan amount	School enrollment preparation expenses up to 79,500 yen per child (interest-free loan)		
Application period	Prior to school entry		
Loan commencement	After the loan is approved and the loan documents etc. have been dispatched.		
Application documents	Please consult your local prefectural public health center on page 2,3 in prior to application. An application form is attached with: 1. notification of school enrollment/document specifying necessary expenses 2. family register or certificate of contents stated in family register 3. residence record of the all members in the household (must be stated in full) 4. seal registration certificate 5. proof of dependent(s) 6. proof of earnings (income) 7. pledge and consent form Application forms are available at prefectural public health centers.		
Enquire	For details, please contact your local prefectural public health center (page 2,3).		

[%]The above amounts are correct as of March 2020, and they are subject to change.

Section 5 – Support for Junior High School Students

Name: Single mother household educational allowance (grant)

Content	Provide financial support necessary for education and child-raising expenses to the mother of single mother households.				
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture				
Eligibility	The mother of single mother household residing in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) who is supporting junior high school (including the latter period courses of compulsory education schools and special needs education junior high schools) students. Those who receive the grant described on page 33 are excluded.				
Grant amount	(The payment of	43,000 yen (annually) per child (The payment of application received after June 1 st or payment for a person becoming eligible during the relevant academic year will be made on a monthly installment.)			
	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment day	
	Applicants who are eligible as of April 1 of the year of application	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	End of August	
Application period and period of payment		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March	
	Applicants who are eligible from April 2 onwards of year of application	April – May	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	End of August	
		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March	
Application documents	Submit an application form and proof of eligibility authorized by single-parent household welfare promotions officer or case worker/child welfare officer to your local municipal government (excluding Kyoto City).				
	The application forms are available at prefectural public health centers or municipal governments (excluding Kyoto City).				
Enquiries	For details, please contact your local municipal government (excluding Kyoto City) or prefectural public health center (page 2,3).				
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.				

Name: Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)

Content	Provide scholarship to students of junior high schools (including the latter period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education junior high schools) who have lost one/both parent(s) in a traffic accident.					
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture					
Eligibility	Junior high school (including the latter period course of compulsory education schools and special needs education junior high schools) students who are living within Kyoto Prefecture and have lost one/both parent(s) in a traffic accident Those who receive the grant described on page 32 are excluded.					
Grant amount	Scholarship 43,000 yen (annually) per child (The payment of application received after June 1 st or payment for those who become eligible during the relevant academic year will be made on a monthly installment.)					
	From April to last day [application can be re following year)]		nis day (until the last day of	February of the		
	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment day		
	Applicants who are eligible as of April 1 of the year of application	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	Last day of August		
Application period/period of payment		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of the month following month of application if after end of August		
	Applicants who are eligible from April 2 onwards of year of application	April – May	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of August		
		June – February	Between the following month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of the month following month of application if after end of August		
	Grant payment applic following forms:	cation form for the fund o	etc. for children of traffic vic	ctims attached with the		
Application documents	 Proof authorized by case worker/child welfare officer or death certificate/traffic accident certificate Proof by the head of school (not necessary if proof of school registration is attached Proof by the head of municipality 					
	The application forms are available at municipal governments and the Kyoto Prefectural Government offices.					
Apply to	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division, or Prefectural Regional Promotion Offices					
Enquire	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)					
Remarks	Application needs to	be submitted annually.				

[Support for Junior High School Students]

Name: Educational assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provide a grant to children of the households covered by the payment of school equipment necessary for the compulsor well as school meal expenses etc.			
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City			
Eligibility	Junior high school students of households covered by the latter period course of compulsory education schools, spec and first half period courses of middle schools (only if a live enrollment in school))	cial needs education junior high schools,		
	Livelihood Support Subsidy for Education			
	Standard education support amount			
	School equipment expenses – pencil, eraser, ruler, calligraphy equipment, sewing set, shoes for physical education, etc.			
	Other educational expenses – extra-curricular activities, school commute travel expenses, other expenses (such as school shoes, indoor shoes, hats, etc.)	5,100 yen monthly		
	Class fees, PTA fees, pupils association fees etc.	Up to 770 yen monthly		
Grant amount	Expenses for school textbooks and materials specified by school head or education board (books, workbooks, dictionaries, musical instruments)	Full amount		
	School meals covered by parents/guardians	Full amount		
	Expenses for out-of-school & activities – accommodation, facility usage, transportation, etc.	Full amount		
	School commuting subsidy - minimum school commuting expenses necessary for commuting	Full amount		
	Extra-curricular activities	Full amount (up to 59,800 yen annually)		
	Please apply for the school enrollment support subsidy on page 35 for school trip expenses. Please apply for the school trip subsidy on page 40 for school trip preparation expenses.			
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local city welfare office (pa	nge 5,6).		
Remarks	The grant amounts for the children enrolling in special nee subsidy described on page 37 may vary according to the type			

XThe above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020, and they are subject to change.

Name: School enrollment support subsidy (grant)

Content	Provide support with the provision of school equipment expenses etc. to the parents/guardians of pupils who are recognized to be experiencing financial difficulties in enrolling in schools		
Operating body	National/Municipal governments		
Eligibility	Households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law Households not covered by the Livelihood Protection Law but experiencing financial difficulties		
Grant amount	 The grant items and amounts etc. vary according to the municipality. Parents/guardians covered by the Livelihood Protection Law Main school trip expenses, medical expenses, etc. (The subsidies (specified on page 34) are not included.) Parents/guardians experiencing financial difficulties School equipment expenses, school commuting equipment expenses, out-of-school activities expenses, school commuting expenses, main school trip expenses, medical expenses paid by the parents/guardians (designated as the school illness only), school meal expenses, etc. 		
Application period	Beginning of the academic year (mid-year applications also accepted any time) Varies according to municipal government and academic year.		
Application documents	Submit an application form and necessary attachments to your school or your local municipal boards of education (and associations). The application forms and necessary attachments vary according to the municipality.		
Apply to	Your school or Municipal Boards of Education (and association)		
Enquire	For details, contact your local municipality's board of education (page 4).		
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.		

[Support for Junior High School Students Registered at Special Needs Classes]

Name: School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs classes) (grant)

Content	Cover part or all of the necessary financial expenses to alleviate the financial burded payment ability.		•	
Operating body	National/Municipal Governments			
Eligibility	Students with disabilities falling in the level s registered at special needs classes at their e Those who receive the grants on pages 34 a	lementary school		
	* Support amounts listed are those outlined and there may be differences according to the		ected figure for 2020)	
	Туре	1 & 11	III	
	School meal expenses	1/2 of full amount	_	
	School commuting expenses	Full amount	1/2 of full amount	
	Commuting expenses for on-the- job training	Full amount	1/2 of full amount	
	Study exchange program and transportation expenses	Full amount	1/2 of full amount	
	Main school trip expenses	28,860 yen	_	
	Out-of-school activities expenses that does not require accommodation	1,155 yen	_	
Grant amount	Out-of school activities that require accommodation	3,105 yen	-	
	School equipment expenses	11,370 yen	_	
	School equipment expenses etc. for newly-enrolled students when the children enter a school	28,990 yen	-	
		Judo – 3,825 yen		
	Sports equipment expenses	Kendo – 26,455 yen	_	
		Skiing, etc. – 19,015 yen		
	Enlarged teaching materials expenses	On the basis that it costs up to 42 yen per page, half of the final amount shall be covered (up to a limit of 5,250 yen per book)	-	
	The grant amounts (Types I, II and III) vary according to the parents/guardians' income.			
Application period	Varies according to the municipal government, etc.			
Application documents	Application form authorized by the municipal board of education, etc. and necessary attachments.			
Enquiries	For details, please contact your local municipality's board of education, etc. (page 4).			
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually.			

[Support for Students of Junior High School Course of Special Needs Education Schools]

Name: School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs schools) (grant)

Content	Cover part or all of the necessary financial expenses for enrolling into special needs education school to alleviate the financial burden of the parents/guardians in consideration to the level of payment ability.	
Operating body	National Government/Kyoto Prefecture	
Eligibility	Students registered at Kyoto Prefectural junior high school course of special needs education schools	
Grant amount	Please see the attached list. *1 The grant amounts vary according to the parents/guardians' income. *2 Those grants are provided to attendants for orthopedically impaired students or severe and multiple disabled students.	
Application period	Varies according to the school	
Period of payment	Varies according to the school	
Apply to	Submit an application form and necessary attachments to the school for special needs education at which your children are registered. Application forms are available at special needs education schools.	
Enquire	Please contact the special needs education school at which your children are registered, or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5835)	
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually. The amounts are extracted from year 2020 projected figures.	

Type*1	[Stage I]	[Stage II]	[Stage III]
School meals expenses	Full amount	1/2 of the amount	-
Transportation expenses			
School commuting/transportation	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
School commuting/transportation expenses for an attendant	Full amount*2	Full amount*2	Full amount*2
Homecoming expenses (39 round trips)	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
Homecoming expenses for an attendant (39 round trips)	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
On-the-job training expenses	Full amount	Full amount	1/2 of full amount
Exchange and joint educational programs	Full amount	Full amount	1/2 of full amount
Expenses relating to dormitory accommodation			
Bedclothes expenses	up to 5,510 yen	up to 2,755 yen	-
Daily necessities expenses	up to141,560 yen	up to 70,780 yen	-
Food expenses	up to 148,850 yen	up to 74,425 yen	-
School trip expenses			
Main school trip expenses	up to 57,720 yen	up to 28,860 yen	-
Main school trip expenses for attendants	up to 82,850 yen	up to 41,425 yen	-
Out-of-school activities	up to 24,660 yen	up to 12,330 yen	-
Out-of-school activities expenses for an attendant	36,980 yen*2	18,490 yen* ²	-
School equipment expenses	up to 22,740 yen	up to 11,370 yen	-
Enlarged teaching materials expenses - on the basis that it costs up to 42 yen per page	up to 10,500 yen per book	Half amount of Stage I	-
School equipment expenses etc. for newly-enrolled students when the children enters a school	57,980 yen	28,990 yen	-

[Support for Junior High School Students]

Name: Learning support subsidy for private junior high school students (grant for school)

Content	Provide a fixed grant for tuition fees of private Junior high school students		
Operating body	National government		
Eligibility	Children of households with an annual income of less than 4 million yen who are registered at private junior high schools		
	The above amount is a reference and varies depending on each household. For further information, please check the application form.		
Grant amount	100,000 yen annually		
Application period/period of payment	Varies according to the school.		
Application documents	Information provided by the school. Submit an application form and necessary attachments to the school. Proof of annual earnings is necessary.		
Apply to/Enquire	For details, contact the school at which your child(ren) is/are registered or the Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (075-414-4516)		
Remarks	Application must be submitted annually. Questionnaires must be completed separately		

Page 40

[Support for Junior High School Students]

Name: School trip subsidy (grant)

Content	Provide support to Junior high school students of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law to assist with the preparation fund for the main school trip.		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Residents of Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) covered by the Livelihood Protection Law who need to purchase necessary equipment (bag, underwear, shoes, a pair of socks, etc.) for the main school trip for junior high school students who belong to the household		
Grant amount	6,800 yen/child		
Application period/period of payment	All year round		
Application documents	Application form		
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local welfare office (page 5, 6).		
Remarks	Please apply for the school enrollment support subsidy on page 35 for the main school trip expenses.		

Page 41

[Support for Students Enrolling in Junior High School Section (chukyu gakkosei)]

Name: Learning subsidy for students at non-Japanese schools (grant)

Content	Provide grants to children of the households of foreign nationals covered by the Livelihood Protection Law with the payment of school equipment, school commuting, school meals, etc.	
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture	
Eligibility	Persons covered by the Livelihood Protection Law residing in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) who bear the expenses for school fees of children registered at the junior high school section of the Kyoto Korean School (gakko-hojin kyouto chosen gakuen)	
Grant amount	The grant amounts vary according to the education support standard of the Livelihood Protection Law	
Apply to	School at which your children are registered	
Enquire	For details, please contact the Kyoto Prefectural Regional Welfare Promotion Division. (Tel: 075-414-4557/4564)	
Remarks	Applications must be submitted annually.	

Section 6 – Preparing for Entering Senior High School etc.

Name: Senior high school enrollment social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provide a grant to students of the households covered by the high schools with the payment of school uniform, school bag, enrollment fees etc. and other school equipment necessary for	school shoes, entrance examination fees,		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/City			
Eligibility	Students of households covered by the Livelihood Protection next academic year. Applicable schools are: 1. Senior high schools (full-time, part-time and correspondent period course), 3. higher professional schools (incl. national course of special needs education schools (excluding special and miscellaneous educational institutions (with an education courses with roughly more than 800 hours of class including standard senior high school education	ce courses), 2. secondary schools (latter institute of technology), 4.high school courses), 5. advanced vocational schools in period more than three years long, and		
	Social Assistance Subsidy for Education of the Livelihood Pro	otection Law		
	Standard education support amount			
	School equipment expenses – pencil, notebook, eraser, ruler, sewing set, shoes for physical education, etc.	- 5,300 yen monthly		
	Other educational expenses –out-of-school activities, school commuting expenses, etc.			
	Class fees, PTA fees, student council fees etc.	Up to 1,780 yen monthly		
	Expenses for school textbooks and materials to be purchased by all students (text books, books, workbooks, dictionary, musical instrument)	Full amount granted		
	Tuition fees	Please see below *1 and *2		
Grant amount	Enrollment fees	Equivalent amount to public senior high school		
	Entrance examination fees	Up to 30,000 yen		
	Minimum school commuting expenses necessary for commuting	Full amount granted		
	School enrollment preparation costs – school wear, school bag, school shoes, shirts, etc.	Up to 87,900 yen		
	Extra-curricular activities, etc.	Full amount granted (up to 84,600 yen annually)		
	 *1 Tuition for public senior high schools, private senior high schools and higher professional school (1st, 2nd, 3rd grades) is not provided as public high school scholarship subsidies and senior high school enrollment assistance subsidies are provided. *2 Provide a grant for tuition for higher professional school tuition (4th and 5th grades) equivalent to a actual amount after tuition reduction has been applied. *3 The main school trip and its preparatory expenses are not provided. 			
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local welfare office (page 5,6).			
Remarks	The grant amounts for the children receiving the subsidy described on page 68 may vary.			

[※]The above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020, and they are subject to change.

Name: Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant)

Provide an enrollment preparation grant or scholarship to the children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law or the children of exempted households from municipal resident tax at the time of entering senior high school.						
Kyoto	Kyoto Prefecture					
	-	Prefecture	(excluding Ky	oto City) who fall under any of the		
2. Ch pr so T n u	 Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law (only those who study at private senior high schools (excluding correspondence courses), or at non-Japanese schools*1) Children of exempted households from municipal resident tax and registered at national, public, private senior high schools including special needs education senior schools, higher professional schools or non-Japanese schools that fall under any of the following: The household is (1) Single mother (2) Single father (3) Child (4) Disabled person (5) Person who needs long-term care or, (6) Households that are specially approved by the governor that falls under the similar categories of (1) – (5) Note: Certain age limit of householder applies to (1), (2) and (3). Certain condition of disability level applies to (4). 					
 Grant amounts may be adjusted (reduced) if you are a recipient of any of the grants linext page's remark column. 			recipient of any of the grants listed on t			
	Enrollment preparation grant (for first-year students – one time only)					
	Private high schools		time	Annually 110,000 yen		
			time	Annually 69,000 yen		
	Scholarship for private schools					
	Private high schools in Kyoto Prefecture			correspondence courses are not		
Private high schools outside Kyoto Prefec	Private high schools outside Kyoto Prefecture	Full time	necessary i	•		
	Non-Japanese schools*1	Full time	Annually 22 Monthly 19,	-		
 Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax: Enrollment preparation grant (for first-year students – one time only) 						
	high schools excluding courses in senior high	special		Annually 63,000 yen		
	Livelitime Kyoto The properties of the propert	Livelihood Protection Law or the of time of entering senior high school Kyoto Prefecture The persons residing within Kyoto following categories: 1. Children of households covered senior high schools (excluding 2. Children of exempted household private senior high schools independent of schools or non-Japanese schools or non-Japanese schools or non-Japanese schools or household is (1) Single maneeds long-term care or, (6) Hounder the similar categories on	Livelihood Protection Law or the children of etime of entering senior high school. Kyoto Prefecture The persons residing within Kyoto Prefecture following categories: 1. Children of households covered by the Livesenior high schools (excluding correspond). 2. Children of exempted households from muprivate senior high schools including special schools or non-Japanese schools that fall. The household is (1) Single mother (2) Sineeds long-term care or, (6) Households under the similar categories of (1) – (5) Note: Certain age limit of householder applied. Certain condition of disability level applied. Certain condition of disability level applied. Certain age limit of householder applied. Certain condition of disability level applied. Children registered at high school course. Grant amounts may be adjusted (reduce next page's remark column. > Children of households covered by the Live Enrollment preparation grant (for first-yeart). Full time, kyoto Prefecture. Full time, applicable. Private high schools Private high schools in Full time. Full time. Non-Japanese schools*1 Full time. Non-Japanese schools*1 Full time. Non-Japanese schools excluding special courses in senior high schools excluding special courses in senior high sections of schools for special.	Livelihood Protection Law or the children of exempted hous time of entering senior high school. Kyoto Prefecture The persons residing within Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Ky following categories: 1. Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protect senior high schools (excluding correspondence courses 2. Children of exempted households from municipal resider private senior high schools including special needs educt schools or non-Japanese schools that fall under any of 1. The household is (1) Single mother (2) Single father (3) needs long-term care or, (6) Households that are special under the similar categories of (1) – (5) Note: Certain age limit of householder applies to (1), (2) and Certain condition of disability level applies to (4). Children registered at high school courses of the advace Grant amounts may be adjusted (reduced) if you are an ext page's remark column. Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection of the company of the c		

Drivate conjer high cohoole	Full time	Annually 178,000 yen	
Private senior high schools	Part time	Annually 137,000 yen	
Correspondence courses		Annually 45,000 yen	

Scholarship for national and public schools

Special courses of senior high section of special needs education schools, higher professional schools (4 th and 5 th grades)*4	Annually 192,000 yen Monthly 16,000 yen
Senior high sections of special needs education schools (excluding special courses)	Annually 168,000 yen Monthly 14,000 yen

Scholarship for private schools

Private high schools in Kyoto Prefecture	Full time, part time and correspondence courses are not applicable*2		
Private high schools outside Kyoto Prefecture	Full time	Annually 396,000 yen Monthly 33,000 yen Coordination for multiple benefit restriction is necessary in the case of receiving a grant from the national government*3.	
	Part time	Annually 288,000 yen Monthly 24,000 yen	
Non-Japanese schools*1	Full time	Annually 396,000 yen Monthly 33,000 yen	

Assistance grant (for school equipment expenses, etc.)

National and public, and private senior high schools • Senior high sections of schools for special needs education and 4 th and 5 th grades of higher professional schools are excluded. • Coordination for multiple benefit restriction is necessary in the case of receiving the senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant)*5.	Full time Part time Correspondence course	60,000 yen per year
--	---	---------------------

- *1 Equivalent level to senior high school mainly for non-Japanese residents founded by an incorporated educational corporation
- *2 There are no scholarship funds for students at private senior high schools in Kyoto Prefecture since the national and Kyoto prefectural high school enrollment support fund systems for tuition payment for private high school students actually make tuition free.
- *3 Scholarship funds to be provided to students registered at private senior high schools outside of Kyoto Prefecture are equivalent to the difference between the amounts in the above tables and the national high school enrollment support fund as well as subsidy for tuition payment for students registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo prefecture.
- *4 There are no scholarship funds for students at institutes of technology if higher education tuition exemption systems provide free tuition.
- *5 Scholarship funds to be provided are equivalent to the difference between the amounts in the above tables and the senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant)

Application period	Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law First application: February, all year round after that (End of April for enrollment preparation grant) Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax First application (new first-year students only): February Second application: June All year round after June: (End of June for enrollment preparation grant)						
	Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protectio — March, April Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax — First application: March, April — Second application: July						
	Scholarship	•					
		Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law	Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax				
Period of payment	The first period (from April to July)	April	April (First application) July (Second application)				
	The second period (from August to November)	August	August				
	The third period (from December to March)	December	December				
	*Scholarship funds might not be available if funds from the national high school enrollment support fund system or other similar systems are already provided.						
	Assistance grant (School supplies, etc.)		pt from municipal resident tax				
Fill out and submit the application form and following documents to your local Kyo Public Health Center (page 2,3): Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law; Grant application form, school certificate, proof of status as welfare recipient, proof national assistance grant recipient (only for scholarship recipient)							
Application documents	Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax; Grant application form, school certificate and proof of exemption from municipal resident tax, proof of national government sponsored assistance grant recipient (only for scholarship recipient), assistance grant utilization plan						
As for disabled person households, a copy of physical disability certificate or annui required. As for the households in need of long-term care, a doctor's certificate is required							
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local Kyoto Prefectural Public Health Center (page 2,3).						
Remarks	Grant amounts may be adjusted (reduced) if you are a recipient of any of the grants listed below: 1. Senior high schools loan programs (pages 51-55, 83-86) 2. Scholarship grant (page 63) 3. Single mother educational grant, etc. (page 64-65) 4. Grant for children of traffic victims, etc. (page 66) 5. Part-time course or correspondence course scholarship (loan) (page 73) 6. Senior high school enrollment assistance grant (grant to school) (page 76) 7. School fees reduction for students who are registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo Prefecture (page 78) * There may be a reduction of grant amounts if you are a recipient of any of the similar grants besides the ones listed above.						

Name: Daily life welfare loan - Education support loan (interest-free loan)

Content	There might be a case in which this loan will not be provided in time so that necessary fund is available. An application for any of the above loan systems*1 is a prerequisite for the provision the education support loan, which temporarily serves as a bridge-gap loan. In the case that any of the above loans*1 is received, a repayment must be made in a lump sum December of the corresponding year. In the case that any of the above loans*1 is not received, this loan will continue to be provided. School enrollment preparation loan This loan is provided to cover necessary expenses at the time of entering senior high school. Children of low-income households (the households with income standard within 1.8 times that of the basis stipulated by the Livelihood Protection Law) to be registered at senior high schools including senior high sections of special needs education schools, latter period courses of secondary schools,					ht be rages s not on of	
Eligibility						l ls,	
			t loan - up to 6 mo				
	1.	Education Suppor	t loan - up to 6 mo	Live-at-home	Live-away- from-home		
				commuters	commuters		
1			National and	Up to	Up to		
		High schools	Public	18,000 yen per month Up to	23,000 yen per month Up to		
			Private	30,000 yen per month	35,000 yen per month		
Loan amount		Higher professional	National and Public	Up to 21,000 yen per month	Up to 22,500 yen per month		
		schools	Private	Up to 32,000 yen per month	Up to 35,000 yen per month		
	;	In the case that this loan is approved as being particularly necessary, up to 1.5 times of any of the above loan upper limits can be provided (special loan). Please consult with your local council of social welfare office (page 7). 2. School enrollment preparation loan - up to 500,000 yen					
Loan Application (consultation) period	ched	Consultation is offered after confirming amounts of necessary expenses for school enrollment by checking school information leaflets (around autumn of the third year of junior high school). It is recommended to consult with your local council of social welfare office (page 7) earlier.					

Period of repayment	 In the case that the education support loan program serves as a "bridge-gap fund," repayments must be made in a lump sum in December of the corresponding year. Otherwise, repayments begin within a 3-month deferment period after graduation, and are to be completed within a period equivalent to three times the loaning period. Repayments for the special loan are to be completed within a period equivalent to four times the loaning period with a maximum period of 20 years). (same as page 80) Repayments for school enrollment preparation loans begin following a 3-month deferment period after graduation and must be completed within a period of 8 years. 	
Enquire	Municipal councils of social welfare (social welfare institution) (page 7).	
Remarks		

Name: Single parent and child/widow welfare loan - Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free loan)

Content	-	This loan is provided to children of single parent households to cover necessary expenses (entrance fees, tuition, textbooks, transportation, etc.)								
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture	Kyoto Prefecture								
Eligibility	and are currently 1. Senior high vocational s preparation 2. Training fac Multiple be	vocational schools, and higher professional schools – eligible for learning loan, school enrollment preparation loan								
	Learning loan M	onthly maxin	num amour	nt (Th	nose who a	re applicab	le for the ab	oove1)		
	Unit: yen									
	Type of schools et	Year (Montl	hly amount)	1 st yr.	2 nd yr.	3 rd yr.	4 th yr.	5 th yr.	
		National	Live-at-he		Up to 27,000	Up to 27,000	Up to 27,000			
	Senior high schools	and Public	Live-awa from-hom commute	ne	Up to 34,500	Up to 34,500	Up to 34,500			
	Vocational schools		Live-at-he	ers	Up to 45,000	Up to 45,000	Up to 45,000			
		Private	Live-awa from-hom commute	ne	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500			
			Live-at-he		Up to 31,500	Up to 31,500	Up to 31,500	Up to 67,500	Up to 67,500	
Loan amount	Higher		Live-awa from-hom commute	ne	Up to 33,750	Up to 33,750	Up to 33,750	Up to 76,500	Up to 76,500	
	professional schools Pri		Live-at-he		Up to 48,000	Up to 48,000	Up to 48,000	Up to 79,500	Up to 79,500	
		Private	Live-awa from-hom commute	ne	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500	Up to 90,000	Up to 90,000	
	Training loan: M	Training loan: Monthly maximum amount of 68,000 yen (Those who are applicable for the above 2)								
	School enrollme	nt preparatio	on loan (inte	erest-f	ree loan)	Live-at-h	nome comm	uters		
	Entry to seni	or high scho	ols,	Nati Pub	onal and lic	Live-awa	up to 150,000 yen Live-away-from-home commuters			
	higher profest vocational so courses)					Live-at-h	0,000 yen nome comm 0,000 yen	uters		
	courses)			Private		Live-awa	ay-from-hon 0,000 yen	ne commute	ers	

Loan application	Entry to training facilities Consultation is offered from the time of begin	Live-at-home commuters up to 272,000 yen Live-away-from-home commuters up to 282,000 yen ning to consider their future scholastic plans. It is	
(consultation) period	recommended to consult with the Welfare Off	fice of the Kyoto Prefectural Public Health Center earlier.	
Loan commencement	After the loan is approved and the documents	s have been dispatched.	
Application documents	Submit the following documents to your local public health center: 1. Application form 2. Family register or certificate of contents stated in family register 3. Residence record of all the members in the household 4. Seal registration certificate 5. Proof of dependent(s) 6. Proof of earnings (income) 7. School enrollment certificate (in the case of the learning and training loans) School acceptance notification (in the case of school enrollment preparation loan) 8. School information, notification of school expense payment or document specifying necessary expenses 9. Pledge and consent form The application forms are available at prefectural public health centers.		
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local prefectural public health center (page 2,3).		
Remarks	 Multiple benefit restrictions - Cannot receive in conjunction with the following scholarship loans: 1. Senior high school student etc. learning support loan (pages 51-55,83-86) 2. Daily life welfare loan (education support loan) (pages 47-48,80) 3. Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization scholarship loan (pages 56-57,88-89) 		

[%]The above amounts are correct as of March 2020, and they are subject to change.

[Preparing for Entering Senior High School]

Name: Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)

Operating	Kuota Profestura						
body	Kyoto Prefecture		1				
Type of loan	1.Senior high school (with no interest)	etc. learning loan system	2.Learning sup (interest subsid	port special loan inter ly)	rest subsidy system		
Content	Kyoto Prefecture dire loan.	ctly provides students with	support special parents/guardia mentioned on the	re provides interest so loans from financial in ans with income more the left hand side. Kyo ments in the following	institutions to than the standard oto Prefecture makes		
Eligibility	schools, second course), schools education (high (high school couprofessional school school prefessional school entire household	, ,	eriod (including Kyoto City) and of children wishing to enter senior high schools, secondary school students (latter period course), schools for special needs education (high school), or vocational school (high school courses) The main household earner's income more than the standard mentioned on the left hand side, which is also under the standard annual income separately				
	Cannot receive in conjunction with scholarship loans or grants described below in the remarks column.						
	Public Private	Up to 18,000 yen Monthly Up to 30,000 yen Monthly	Upper limits of I National and Public	oan from financial ins	Up to 648,000 yen		
Loan amount	Live-away-from-home *The loan amount for	recipients of the adjusted, depending on	Private	Installment each yearly In a lump sum Installment each yearly	Up to 216,000 yen Up to 1,080,000 yen Up to 360,000 yen		
Application for reservation	Applications for reservations for third year students of junior high schools and schools for special needs education junior high school: guidelines for reservation will be distributed directly. Please request the manual from the junior high schools in which the applicants are registered.						

Period of payment	 Submit an application form, proof of earnings, etc. to the junior high school around the months of October through mid-December of the third year of the junior high school. Kyoto Prefecture issues notification that the application is accepted. Submit loan application to junior high schools around February through mid-March of the third year of junior high school after the announcement of passing entrance examinations. Kyoto Prefecture issues notification for loan grant. Loans shall be provided from late-April through late-June. 	 Submit application to junior high schools for the loan interest subsidy system around October through mid-December of the third year of junior high school. Apply for loan eligibility recognition around February through March of the third year of junior high school. Kyoto Prefecture issues certificate for loan eligibility recognition after late- April of the first year of school entry. Apply loan to financial institutions around May through end of August after school entry. Loans are granted by financial institutions. Loans are provided around early-May through mid-June. Apply to Kyoto Prefecture for subsidy for annual amounts of interest paid in June of the following year. Payments are made by Kyoto Prefecture in August of the following year. 		
Loan period Joint	New applications can be made after school entry Payments are made in two installments by Kyoto Prefecture. Late-April through late-June (for the amount covering the months of April through September) Late-October (for the amount covering the months of October through March) One person	Lump sum loan payments are made from May through August of the first year of school entry. Installment loan payments will be made from May through August of the year in which the application is made and after April of the following year, and later. No joint guarantor is required, but a guarantee service		
guarantor	(parents/guardians can be a guarantor)	(handling) fees must be covered by applicants.		
Period of repayment	Within 20 years of the expiration of the loan period (in the case that there is a deferment period, repayments are to be completed within 20 years after the deferment period has ended).	The longest is within 7 years from the same or following month of the first loan payment.		
Enquire	For details please contact the junior high school at which your child is registered or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7518).			

Cannot receive in conjunction with a scholarship loan or grant provided by the national or Prefecture governments as follows:

- 1. Single parent and child/widow welfare loan (learning loan) (pages 49-50, 81)
- 2. Senior high schools in Kyoto Prefecture part-time courses and correspondence courses scholarship loan (page 73)
- 3. Senior high school student scholarship subsidy grant (pages 44-46, 60-62)
- 4. Scholarship subsidy grant etc. for children of traffic victims (page 66)
- 5. Single mother household educational allowance etc. grant (page 64-65)
- 6. School (school for special needs education) enrollment subsidy grant (page 68-69)
- 7. Educational allowance etc. grant for students enrolling in training schools for nurse (page 107)
- 8. Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization scholarship loan (pages 56-57, 88-89)
- 9. Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (pages 90-91)
- 10. Scholarship subsidy loan or grant sponsored by the prefectural governments or public institutions
- Consult earlier regarding the daily life welfare loan (page 47-48) for entering senior high school as this is not a loan for the third year of junior high school.
- The households receiving welfare support should contact local welfare offices (page 5, 6) to see if they are eligible to receive the senior high school enrollment social assistance (page 43)

Remarks

[Preparing for Entering Senior High School]

Name: Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning preparation loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)

Support diligent high school students etc. in financial difficulties, by providing loan or interest subsidy for loans from financial institutions.					
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture				
Type of loan	Senior high school etc. learning preparation loan system (with no interest)	Learning preparation special loan interest subsidy system (interest subsidy)			
Content	Kyoto Prefecture directly provides students with loan. Kyoto Prefecture directly provides students with parents/guardians with income more than the star mentioned on the left hand side. Kyoto Prefecture lump sum payments in the following year.				
Eligibility	 Students wishing to enter senior high schools, secondary schools (latter period course), schools for special needs education (high school), vocational schools (high school courses), or higher professional schools Their parents/guardians who reside in Kyoto Prefecture (including Kyoto City) and whose entire household income is under the income standards stipulated separately. 	 Parents/guardians residing in Kyoto Prefecture (including Kyoto City) and of children wishing to enter senior high schools, secondary school students (latter period course), schools for special needs education (high school), vocational school (high school courses), or higher professional schools Their main household earner's annual income is 1,500,000 yen or more, which is also more than the standard mentioned on the left hand side. 			
	Only recipients of the senior high school students etc. learning support project loan (page51-53) can receive this loan. Cannot apply for this loan alone. Cannot receive in conjunction with scholarship loans or grants described below in the remarks column.				
Loan	One-time payment at the time of school entry National ar	nd public Set amount of 50,000 yen			
amount	Private	Set amount of 250,000 yen			
Application for reservation	Application for reservations for the third year students of junior high schools and schools for special needs education: the guideline for reservation will be distributed to them. The application process for this loan will be made together with for the enrollment fund (page 51-53)				

	T			
Period of payment	 Confirm application for reservation around the months of October through mid-December of the third year of the junior high school. Submit loan application to junior high schools around February through March of the third year of junior high school. Kyoto Prefecture issues notification for loan grant after school entry. Loans shall be provided from late-April through late-June. 	 Confirm application for reservation around October through mid-December of the third year of junior high school. Apply for loan eligibility recognition for special loan around February through March of the third year of junior high school. Kyoto Prefecture issues certificate for loan eligibility recognition after late- April of the first year of school entry. Apply loan to financial institutions around May through end of July after school entry. Loans are granted by financial institutions. Loans are provided around early-May through mid-June. Apply to Kyoto Prefecture for subsidy for annual amounts of the interest paid in June of the following year. Payments are made by Kyoto Prefecture in August of the following year. 		
Joint guarantor	One person (parents/guardians can be a guarantor)	No joint guarantor is required, but a guarantee service (handling) fees must be covered by applicants		
Period of repayment	Within 7 years of the expiration of the loan period	The longest is within 7 years from the same or following month of the first loan payment.		
Enquire	_ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	at which your child is registered or Kyoto Prefectural Board igh School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7518).		
Remarks	Cannot receive in conjunction with a scholarship loan or grant as follows: 1. Single parent and child/widow welfare loan learning loan (page 49-50, 81) 2. Senior high school student scholarship subsidy grant (page 44-46, 60-62) 3. Scholarship subsidy grant etc. for children of traffic victims (page 66) 4. Single mother household educational allowance etc. grant (page 64-65) 5. Daily welfare fund loan (enrollment preparation loan) (pages 47-48, 80) 6. School (school for special needs education) enrollment subsidy grant (page 68) 7. Scholarship subsidy loan or grant sponsored by the prefectural governments or public institutions Consult earlier regarding the daily life welfare loan (page 47-48) for entering senior high school as this is not a loan for the third year of junior high school. The households receiving welfare support should contact local welfare offices (page 5, 6) to see if they are eligible to receive the senior high school enrollment social assistance (page 43)			

Name: Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (Interest-free loan)

_	<u>'</u>					
Content	Provide scholarship loans to students who are experiencing difficulty learning due to financial reasons. There are standards for scholastic ability and household income to be followed.					
Operating body	Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization (JASSO)					
Eligibility	The third year junior high school students wishing to enter higher professional schools, who are accepted on the recommendation of school principals (Pre-enrollment application)					
	Scholarship loans with no interest (Type1) Monthly amount (Unit: yen)					
	Type of schools	National a	National and public		Private	
	Commuting School year	Live-at-home commuters	Live-away- from-home commuters	Live-at-home commuters	Live-away- from-home commuters	*Regardless of type of schools or commuting
	First – third year	21,000	22,500	32,000	35,000	10,000
	family of 4, yourself yen) falls under the sections).	of the person(s), father, mother showing selection	son(s) providing for the household is more than standard (reference: other and sibling at junior high school earn a total income of 6.68 mill selective amounts below except the highest amount (see the highlight			me of 6.68 million ee the highlighted
	Type of education	National and pub			Priva	
	Commuting	Live-at-ho commute	fro	e-away- m-home nmuters	Live-at-home commuters	Live-away- from-home commuters
	45,000 University 30,000 20,000		5	51,000	54,000	64,000
		0			50,000	
				10,000	40,000	40,000
Loan amount		30,000) 3	30,000	30,000	30,000
		20,000) 2	20,000	20,000	20,000
	University	45,000) 5	51,000	53,000	60,000
	junior college, higher professional			10.000	40,000	50,000
	schools,	30,000		0,000		40,000
	(fourth and fifth years),		3	30,000	30,000	30,000
	vocational school	20,000) 2	20,000	20,000	20,000
	In principle, payments are made monthly. Scholarship loans with interest (Type 2)					
			Monthly loan amount			
	Type of Education		National and public and private/live-at-home commuters and live-away-from-home commuters			
	Junior College, higher professional school (fourth and fifth years), vocational school (specialized courses)		Select from 1	0,000 yen unit d	of 20,000 yen to 12	20,000 yen
	In principle, payment	payments are made monthly.				

Application and payment periods	Pre-enrollment application: Apply from October through mid-December during third year (Please check with the school where registered.) First payment – Around May or June Post-enrollment application: Spring of the year of school entry (varies according to the school) First payment –Around June to August In principle, payments are made monthly.			
Application procedure	Pre-enrollment application: Submit an application form and necessary documents including proof of earnings to the junior high school which your child is registered. Post-enrollment application: Apply for the loan through the JASSO's website. Submit necessary documents including proof of earnings to the junior high school where registered to receive an application number before making an online application.			
Guarantor system	It is the applicant's decision whether to use a human guarantor system or institutional guarantor system. Human guarantor; One person (when submitting a repayment pledge, two persons are required including a guarantor.) Institutional guarantor; Applicants may pay a guarantee commission to use an institutional guarantor. A guarantee commission is deducted from the monthly loan payment.			
Period of repayment	Begins after a 7 month deferment period following the expiration of the loan period. Please choose either ① or ② for Type 1 scholarship. For Type 2, please follow ①. ① Fixed amount of repayment system: period of payment will be decided from the total amount of loan (up to 20 years) ② An income-based scholarship repayment system in which the amount of repayment is based on income level of the previous year and the repayment period will be decided from the amount of monthly repayment.			
Enquire	Pre-enrollment application: junior high school where registered Post-enrollment application: higher professional school where registered			
Remarks	Website for Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization (scholarship program (loan)) URL:https://www.jasso.go.jp/shogakukin/seido/index.html			

Section 7 – Support for Senior High School Students, etc.

Name: Senior high school enrollment social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provision necessary for enrolling into senior high school of preparatory expenses and school equipment and commutation expenses etc. to children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law				
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City				
Eligibility	Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law who are to enroll; ① Senior high schools (full time/part time/correspondence course) ② Secondary schools (latter period course) ③ Higher professional schools ④ Senior high school course of school for special needs education ⑤ Advanced vocational schools and miscellaneous educational institutions (with an education period more than three years long and courses with roughly more than 800 hours of class including general education), which is equivalent to standard senior high school education.				
	Livelihood Protection Law "	occupational (livelihood) as	sistance"	,	
	Expense Item	Main Content		Base Amount	
	Basic amount	School equipment expenses –pencil, notebook, eraser, ruler, sewing set, shoes for physical education, etc.	Other expenses -out-of-school activities, school commuting expenses	5,300 yen monthly	
	Class fees	Class fees, student council fees, PTA fees, etc.		Up to 1,780 yen monthly	
Once to a constant	Study materials Expenses for school textbooks and materials to be purchased by all studen (textbooks, books, workbooks, dictionar musical instruments)		d by all students	Full amount granted	
Grant amount	Tuition fees	Tuition fees		See *1 and *2	
	Commutation expense	Minimum school commuting necessary for commuting	ng expenses	Full amount granted	
	Study support subsidy	Extracurricular activities, etc.		Full amount granted Annual amount up to 84,600 yen	
	schools (1st, 2nd, 3 assistance grant an *2 Provide a grant fo equivalent to an actu set).	nior high schools, private se ord grades) is not provided and senior high school enrolln retuition for higher profess and amount after tuition reduction	as public senior henent assistance gransional school tuition app	igh school enrollment ont are provided. In (4 th and 5 th grades) of the maximum is	
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local city welfare office (Page 5,6).				
Remarks	The amounts for the children receiving the subsidy described on Page 68 may vary.				

[%]The above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020, and they are subject to change.

Name: Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant)

Content	Provide an enrollment preparation grant or scholarship to the children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law or the children of exempted households from municipal resident tax at the time of entering senior high school.					
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture					
	The persons residing within Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) who fall under any of the following categories:					
Eligibility	 Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law (only those who study at private senior high schools (excluding correspondence courses), or at non-Japanese schools*1) Children of exempted households from municipal resident tax and registered at national, public, private senior high schools including special needs education senior schools, higher professional schools or non-Japanese schools that fall under any of the following: The household is (1) Single mother (2) Single father (3) Child (4) Disabled person (5) Person who needs long-term care or, (6) Households that are specially approved by the governor that falls under the similar categories of (1) – (5) Note: Certain age limit of householder applies to (1), (2) and (3). Certain condition of disability level applies to (4). Children registered at high school courses of the advanced vocational schools are not eligible. 					
	 Grant amounts may be adjusted (reduced) if you are a recipient of any of the grants listed on the next page's remark column. Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law 					
	Enrollment preparation grant (for first-year students – one time only)					
	Private high schools Full time Annually 110,000 yen					
	Part time Annually 69,000 yen					
	Scholarship for private schools					
	Private high schools in Kyoto Prefecture Full time, part time and correspondence courses are not applicable*2					
Grant amount	Private high schools outside Kyoto Prefecture Full time Annually 228,000 yen Monthly 19,000 yen Coordination for multiple benefit restriction is necessary in the case of receiving a grant from the national government*3.					
	Non-Japanese schools*1 Full time Annually 228,000 yen Monthly 19,000 yen					
	Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax: Enrollment preparation grant (for first-year students – one time only)					
	National and public senior high schools excluding special courses in senior high sections of schools for special needs education Full time & part time Annually 63,000 yen					

Private senior high schools	Full time	Annually 178,000 yen	
Trivate semor night schools	Part time	Annually 137,000 yen	
Correspondence courses	Annually 45,000 yen		

Scholarship for national and public schools

Special courses of senior high section of special needs education schools, higher professional schools (4 th and 5 th grades)*4	Annually 192,000 yen Monthly 16,000 yen
Senior high sections of special needs education schools (excluding special courses)	Annually 168,000 yen Monthly 14,000 yen

Scholarship for private schools

ocholarship for private school	9.0		
Private high schools in Kyoto Prefecture	Full time, part time and correspondence courses are not applicable.*2		
Private high schools outside Kyoto Prefecture Coordination for multiple	Full time	Annually 396,000 yen Monthly 33,000 yen	
benefit restriction is necessary in the case of receiving a grant from the national government*3.	Part time	Annually 288,000 yen Monthly 24,000 yen	
Non-Japanese schools*1	Full time	Annually 396,000 yen Monthly 33,000 yen	

Assistance grant (for school equipment expenses, etc.)

National and public, and private senior high schools • Senior high sections of schools for special needs education and 4 th and 5 th grades of higher professional schools are excluded. • Coordination for multiple benefit restriction is necessary in the case of receiving the senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant)*5.	Full time Part time Correspondence course	60,000 yen per year
--	---	---------------------

- *1 Equivalent level to senior high school mainly for non-Japanese residents founded by an incorporated educational corporation
- *2 There are no scholarship funds for students at private senior high schools in Kyoto Prefecture since the national and Kyoto prefectural high school enrollment support fund systems for tuition payment for private high school students actually make tuition free.
- *3 Scholarship funds to be provided to students registered at private senior high schools outside of Kyoto Prefecture are equivalent to the difference between the amounts in the above tables and the national high school enrollment support fund as well as subsidy for tuition payment for students registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo prefecture.
- *4 There are no scholarship funds for students at higher professional school (institute of technology) if higher education tuition exemption systems provide free tuition.
- *5 Support funds to be provided are equivalent to the difference between the amounts in the above tables and the senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant).

Application period	Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law First application: February, all year round after that (End of April for enrollment preparation grant) Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax First application (new first-year students only): February Second application: June, all year round after that (End of June for enrollment preparation grant)				
	Enrollment preparation grant	d by the Livelihood Protection Law t from municipal resident tax oril			
	Scholarship				
		Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law	Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax		
Period of payment	The first period (from April to July)	April	April (First application) July (Second application)		
	The second period (from August to November)	August	August		
	The third period (from December to March)	December	December		
	*Scholarship funds might not be available if funds from the national high school enrollment support fund system or other similar systems are already provided.				
	Assistance grant Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax (School supplies, etc.) - Late November (tentative)				
	Fill out and submit the application form and following documents to your local Kyoto Prefectural Public Health Center (page 2,3): Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law;				
	Grant application form, school certificate. proof of status as welfare recipient, proof of status as national assistance grant recipient (only for scholarship recipient)				
Application documents	Children of households exempt from municipal resident tax; Grant application form, school certificate and proof of exemption from municipal resident tax, proof of national government sponsored assistance grant recipient (only for scholarship recipient), assistance grant utilization plan				
	As for disabled person households, a copy of physical disability certificate or annuity certificate is required. As for the households in need of long-term care, a doctor's certificate is required				
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local Kyoto Prefectural Public Health Center (page 2,3).				
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually. Grant amounts may be adjusted (reduced) if you are a recipient of any of the grants listed below: 1. Senior high schools loan programs (pages 51-55, 83-86) 2. Scholarship grant (page 63) 3. Single mother educational grant, etc. (page 64-65) 4. Grant for children of traffic victims, etc. (page 66) 5. Part-time course or correspondence course scholarship (page 73) 6. Senior high school enrollment assistance grant. Paid to school (page 76)				
 6. Senior high school enrollment assistance grant. Paid to school (page 76) 7. School fees reduction for students who are registered at private senior high schools Prefecture (page 78) * There may be a reduction of grant amounts if you are a recipient of any of the similar g besides the ones listed above 					

Name: Senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant)

Content	In order to reduce the burden for education, school enrollment support benefit (grant) is provided to support children in low income households. <national, and="" etc.="" private="" public,="" schools,=""></national,>			
Eligibility	Parents/guardian(s) of students who meet all of the following requirements: 1. Children of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law (Social Assistance Subsidy) and the children of exempted households from municipal resident tax 2. Parents/guardian(s) or a person in parental authority etc., must live in Kyoto Prefecture 3. Students must be enrolled after April 1 st , 2014 and be eligible either to enrollment assistance grant or relearning assistance grant (excluding higher courses of special needs school students). *If the child is receiving "the same type of subsidies", the amount of "the same type of subsidies" may change (loan/grant). Please refer to the Remarks section below for "the same type of subsidies".			
Grant amount	1. Households covered Social Assistance Subsidy for Education of the Livelihood Protection Law National and public school 32,300 yen (annually) Private school 52,600 yen (annually) 2. Households exempted from prefectural and municipal resident tax (excluding households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law) who are supporting senior high school student(s) (Exclude in the case of No.3) National and public school (full time/part time course): 84,000 yen (annually) (correspondence course): 36,500 yen (annually) Private school (full time/part time course): 103,500 yen (annually) (correspondence course): 38,100 yen (annually) 3. Households exempt from prefectural and municipal resident tax (excluding households covered by Social Assistance Subsidy for Education of the Livelihood Protection Law) who are supporting two or more senior high school students or supporting their siblings (excluding junior high school student) from 15 up to 22 years old. National and public school (full time/part time course): 129,700 yen (annually) (correspondence course): 36,500 yen (annually) Private school (full time/part time course): 138,000 yen (annually) (correspondence course): 38,100 yen (annually)			
Application Period	Around July (Reference date: July 1)			
Period of payment	After late October			
Application	After receiving notice from schools, together with certificates for households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law and Households exempt from prefectural and municipal resident tax, submit the application to school. If your children are registered at the school in other prefectures, please contact below.			
Applications/Enquiries	National and public schools: Senior high schools etc. where registered or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7539) Private school: Senior high schools etc. where registered or Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516).			
Remarks	 Application needs to be submitted annually. Among "the same type of subsidies", the following may alter the amount: 1. Senior High School Student etc. learning support project (Learning loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy) (Page 51-53, 83-84) 2. Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant) (Page 44-46, 60-62) 3. Single mother household educational allowance (grant) (page 64-65) 4. Fund, etc. for children of traffic victims (grant) (page 66) 5. Part-time or correspondence course scholarship (interest-free loan) (page 73) 			

Name: Single mother household educational allowance etc. (grant)

Content	Provide financial support necessary for education and child-raising expenses to promote the welfare of single mother families				
Eligibility	Mother of single mother household residing in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) who is supporting senior high school student (including student who is registered at senior high school course of school for special needs education or vocational schools) *Not applicable or the amount of grant may change if the child is receiving "the same type of subsidies" (loan/grant). Please refer to the Remarks below for "the same type of subsidies".				
Grant amount	 Scholarship: 64,000 yen (annually) per child (The payment of application received after June 1st or payment for a person becoming eligible during the relevant academic year will be made on a monthly installment.) Senior high school enrollment preparation expense: 35,000 yen (one time only after enrollment) (only if those who were eligible as of April 1 of the year of application and applied by the end of May) 				
Application Period	 Scholarship: April to end of May All year round after that until the end of February Senior high school enrollment preparation expense: By the end of May ※For applicants wishing to receive the allowance before enrollment: February 				
	1. Scholarship:				
	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment month/day	
	Applicants who are eligible as of April 1 of the year of application Applicants who are eligible from	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	End of August	
Davied of a company		June – February	Between the month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March	
Period of payment		April – May	Between the month after application to March of the relevant academic year	End of August	
	April 2 onwards of year of application	June – February	Between the month after application to March of the relevant academic year	October to March	
	Senior high school enrollment preparation expense: End of August (In case of payment before enrollment, the timing of payment is March.)				
Application	Together with the following certificates, submit the application form to your local municipal government (excluding Kyoto City). 1. Proof authorized by single-parent household welfare promotions officer or case worker/child welfare officer 2. School certificate (by the head of school) The application forms are available at prefectural public health centers or municipal governments				
Applications/Enquiries	(excluding Kyoto City). For details, please contact your local municipal government (excluding Kyoto City) or prefectural public health center (page 2,3).				

 Application needs to be submitted annually. (Senior high school enrollment preparation expense is at school entry only.) "The same type of subsidies" are the following: Senior High School Student etc. Learning Support Project (learning loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy) (Page 51-55, 83-86) Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant) (Page 44-46, 60-62) Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant) (Page 66) Skill acquisition fund/preparation fund for entry into institutions (grant) (Page 102) Among "The same type of subsidies" the following alters the amount: Senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant) (page 63)

Name: Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant)

Content	Provide fund to senior high school student (including student who is registered at senior high school course of school for special needs education or vocational schools) who have lost one/both parent(s) in a traffic accident				
Eligibility	Senior high school (including senior high school course of special needs education or vocational school) students who are living within Kyoto Prefecture and have lost their parents/guardians in a traffic accident. Not applicable or the amount of grant may change if the child is receiving "the same type of subsidies" (loan/grant). Please refer to the remarks below for "the same type of subsidies".				
Grant amount	 Scholarship: 64,000 yen (annually) per child (The payment of application received after June 1st or payment for a person becoming eligible during the relevant academic year will be made on a monthly installment.) Senior high school enrollment preparation expense: 35,000 yen (first grade) (only for those who were eligible for application as of April 1 of the year of enrollment and applied by end of May) 				
Application Period	 Scholarship: April to end of May All year round after that until the end of February Senior high school enrollment preparation expense: First time application: end of February before enrollment Second time application: April to end of May 				
	1. Scholarship:				
Application period/period of payment	Classification	Month of application	Term of grant	Payment month/day	
	Applicants who are eligible as of April 1 of the year of application	April – May	Between April and March of the relevant academic year	Last day of November	
		June – February	Between the month after application to March of the relevant academic year	The month following month of application if after end of November	
	Applicants who are eligible from April 2 onwards of year of application	April – May	Between the month after application to March of the relevant academic year	Last day of November	
		June – February	Between the month after application to March of the relevant academic year	The month following month of application if after end of November	
	Senior high school enroll Second time application:		se: First time applicati	ion: Last day of March	

Application	 Together with the following certificates, submit the application form to Prefectural Regional Promotion Offices or Kyoto Prefectural Government Department of Citizen's Affairs, Community Safety Promotion Division. Proof authorized by case worker/child welfare officer or death certificate/traffic accident certificate Proof by the head of school (Not necessary if school certificate is attached) Proof by the head of municipality If you apply for the enrollment assistance grant before entering senior high school, it is not necessary to submit No. 2. Please submit a school certificate by the last day of May with a copy of school acceptance notice or a copy of admission letter attached. The application forms are available at municipal governments, and the Kyoto Prefectural Government Department of Citizen's Affairs, Community Safety Promotion Division, and Prefectural regional promotion offices.
Enquire	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)
Remarks	 Application needs to be submitted annually. Among "The same type of subsidies" the following are not applicable: 1. Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy) (loan) (Page 51-55, 83-86) 2. Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant) (Page 44-46, 60-62) 3. Single mother household educational allowance etc.(grant) (page 64-65) Among "The same type of subsidies" the following alters the amount. 4. Senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant) (page 63)

[Support for Students of Senior High School Course of Special Needs Education Schools]

Name: School enrollment subsidy (Special Needs Education Schools) (grant)

Content	Cover part or all of the necessary financial expenses for enrolling into school at special needs classes to alleviate the financial burden of the parents/guardians in consideration to the level of payment ability.		
Operating body	National Government/Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Students registered at Kyoto prefectural senior high school course of special needs education schools		
Grant amount	See attachment *1 The grant amounts vary according to the parents/guardians' income. *2 Those grants (School commuting/transportation expenses, Homecoming expenses, School trip expenses and Out-of-school activities) are provided to attendants for orthopedically impaired students or severe and students with multiple disabilities.		
Application period and period of payment	Varies according to the school		
Application	Submit the application form with required documents to your school. Application form is available at your school.		
Enquire	Your school or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5835)		
Remarks	Application needs to be submitted annually. * The above amounts are extracted from year 2020 projected figures.		

List of grant amount limits

Type*1	[Stage I]	[Stage II]	[Stage III]
Textbooks expenses	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
School meals expenses	Full amount	1/2 of the amount	-
Transportation expenses			
School commuting/transportation expenses	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
School commuting/transportation expenses for an attendant	Full amount*2	Full amount*2	Full amount*2
Homecoming expenses (39 round trips)	Full amount	Full amount	Full amount
Homecoming expenses for an attendant (39 round trips)	Full amount*2	Full amount*2	Full amount*2
On-the-job training expenses	Full amount	Full amount	1/2 of the amount
Exchange and joint educational programs (excluding advanced course)	Full amount	Full amount	1/2 of the amount
Expenses relating to dormitory accommodation			
Bedclothes expenses (excluding advanced course)	up to 5,510 yen	up to 2,755 yen	-
Daily necessities expenses	up to 141,560 yen	up to 70,780 yen	-
Food expenses	up to 139,750 yen	up to 69,875 yen	-
School trip expenses			
Main school trip expenses (excluding advanced course)	up to 107,810 yen	up to 53,905 yen	-
Main school trip expenses for an attendant (excluding advanced course)	up to 155,760 yen*2	up to 77,880 yen*2	-
Out-of-school activities (excluding advanced course)	up to 24,820 yen	up to 12,410 yen	-
Out-of-school activities expenses for an attendant (excluding advanced course)	37,220 yen*2	18,610 yen* ²	-
On-the-job training accommodation expenses	up to 7,520 yen	up to 3,760 yen	-
School equipment Expenses (excluding advanced course)	32,270 yen Add 50,930 yen with buying ICT equipment etc.	16,135 yen Add 50,930 yen with buying ICT equipment etc.	Add 50,930 yen with buying ICT equipment etc.
Audio teaching materials expenses - on the basis that it costs unit price of one subject per (excluding advanced course)	up to 19,170 yen per subject	Half amount of Stage I	-
School equipment expenses etc. for newly-enrolled students when the children enter a school (excluding advanced course)	57,980 yen	28,990 yen	-

Name: Funding to cover commuting expenses of senior high school students (grant)

Content	Reduce the burden on parents/guardians of senior high school students with high commuting expenses.				
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture	Kyoto Prefecture			
	 senior high schools within the Prefecture, 1. Those who are not receiving the sup Assistance Act 2. Those who are met the following con A student with the household's total income amount shown the two lists ✓ The household of the student is be 	al income of the previous year was below the base			
	No. of persons in the household	Base income amount			
	3 or less	6,749,000 yen			
	4	6,962,000 yen			
	5	7,175,000 yen			
	6	7,388,000 yen			
	7 or over	7,388,000 yen + 213,000 yen per 1 person increase			
	List 2 (Public senior high school)				
	No. of persons in the household	Base income amount			
	1	1,460,000 yen			
Eligibility	2	2,060,000 yen			
Liigibiiity	3	2,760,000 yen			
	4	3,230,000 yen			
	5	3,590,000 yen			
	6	4,060,000 yen			
	7 or over	4,060,000 yen + 470,000 yen per 1 person increase			
	Base income amount is added to; 1 For single mother and single fath 2 Per disabled person 320,000 ye 3 The costs which person who nee the medical treatment economical	en ds long-term care make a special expenditure for			
	(Private senior high school)				
	No. of persons in the household	Base income amount			
	2 or less	3,001,000 yen			
	3	3,347,000 yen			
	4	3,571,000 yen			
	5	3,785,000 yen			
	6	3,969,000 yen			
	7 or over	Add 162,000 yen to 3,969,000 yen per person			

	3. One-month commuting expenditure is over; For List 1: 22,100 yen For List 2: 17,000 yen A household that is exempt from the resident tax: 10,000 yen *Students at vocational school (higher course of study) are not eligible for this grant.
Grant amount	(Cost of commuting pass expenditure for 1 year—(22,100 yen,17,000 yen or 10,000 yen × the number of months covered by the pass)) × 1/2 Example scenario 1: A List 1 recipient pays for 11 months of commuting pass. A 12-month pass costs 275,000 yen. (275,000 yen — (22,100 yen × 11months)) × 1/2 = 15,950 yen (yearly grant amount) (a fraction of less than one thousand yen, it shall be discarded) Example scenario 2: A List 2 recipient pays for 11 months of commuting pass. A 12-month pass costs 220,000 yen. (220,000 yen — (17,000 yen × 11months)) × 1/2 = 16,500 yen (yearly grant amount) (a fraction of less than one thousand yen, it shall be discarded) Example scenario 3: A household that is exempt from the previous resident tax pays for 11 months' worth of (a) commuting pass/es. A 12-month pass costs 165,000 yen. (165,000 yen — (10,000 yen × 11months)) × 1/2 = 27,500 yen (yearly grant amount) (a fraction of less than one thousand yen, it shall be discarded)
Application period	June or July in principle * If students become eligible to apply for this grant (such as moving etc.) after August, applications will be accepted all year round.
Period of payment	Payment will be made twice, corresponding to the periods from April to September and from October to March. Payment period depends on the period of application.
Application	Submit application form with the following documents to your school. ①Income certificate ②Copy of commuting pass (the price must be shown) - Application for commuting pass expenditure – copies of commuting passes - Application for commuting coupon expenditure – receipts *Purchase must have been made after April 1 st , 2020. Application form is available at school.
Apply to	Please contact your school for details.
Supervisory division	Public senior high schools: Kyoto Prefectural board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516) Private senior high schools: Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4517)

Name: Subsidies for part-time or correspondence course textbook fees

Content	Provide students in part-time or correspondence courses at prefectural senior high schools with subsidies for textbooks.		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Students in part-time courses or correspondence courses of Kyoto Prefectural senior high schools and who fall under either one of the following categories: (Excluding those who covered by senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant).) 1. Students who have a job and who hope to receive assistance 2. Students not working but seeking a job or unable to work due to physical conditions, etc. who hope to receive assistance "Students who have a job" means those who have a permanent job (including self-employed person) or those who work on part-time for more than 90 days a year.		
Application period	September		
Period of Provision	December		
Application	Purchase textbook from bookshop and submit assistance application form to school. To apply, the following certificates are required: Students who have a job: school certificate Other: medical certificate or a copy of Hello-work (job placement office) card Application form is available at school.		
Apply to	Please contact your school for details.		
Supervisory division	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516)		

[Support for Part-time /Correspondence High School Students]

Name: Part-time or correspondence course scholarship (interest-free loan)

Content	Scholarship (interest-free loan) to promote learning of working students in part-time or correspondence courses at senior high schools (Students who have graduated school will be exempted from repayment.)			
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture			
Eligibility	Students in part-time or correspondence courses of public/private senior high schools within Kyoto Prefecture, or students who have their address within Kyoto Prefecture and studying in broad correspondence courses in other Prefectures who fall under all of the following categories: 1. Those who are experiencing significant financial difficulties in learning 2. Those who have an occupation to gain income for living 3. Those who are not recipients of a Scholarship from the Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization			
	years	courses	Part-time course	Correspondence course
Loan amount	First to forth	Public	14,000 yen per month	14,000 yen per month
	year	Private	29,000 yen per month	14,000 yen per month
Application period	April to June, in p	rinciple		
Period of payment	3 times per year (principally in July, November and March)			
Application	Submit application form, together with proof of earnings and certificate of employment to your school. Application form is available at your school.			
Joint guarantor	2 guarantors			
Period of repayment	Begins 6 months from the following month after the loan is received. Repayment should be completed either in a lump sum or within the period equal to the loan period. (Repayment is graced during at senior high school) Students who have graduated school will be exempted from repayment.			
Apply to	Respective senior high school with part-time courses or correspondence courses For details, please contact the section in charge of Kyoto Prefectural Office about receipt with Senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant).			
Supervisory division	The grant amounts for students receiving "Senior high school student social assistance subsidy (grant)" described on page 60 may vary. Public senior high schools: Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516) Private senior high schools: Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4517)			

Name: Public senior high school enrollment assistance grant (paid to schools)

Content	Provision of Kyoto Prefectural public senior high school tuition fees for students who belong to a household whose total income limit is below the income standards. Paid to schools. (This is not paid to the student or parents/guardians directly to ensure that the money is used for school fees.)		
Operating body	National Government		
Eligibility	Students enrolled after April 2014 For applications between April and June, 2020 Guardians whose total amount of prefectural and municipal resident tax per income levy is below the income standard (507,000 yen), and who are certified for eligibility can receive the grant. For applications from July 2020 onwards Base income amount = Guardian's local taxable income amount x 6% - the deduction amount of municipal resident tax (in the case of the ordinance designated city, the deduction amount of municipal resident tax will be multiplied by 3/4) The base income amount is changed to 304,200 yen.		
	*Households over the income threshold should pay tuition.		
Grant amount	The enrollment assistance grant is equal to the tuition and no personal expense is required. Ex. Kyoto Prefectural public senior high school Full time course: 9,900 yen per month Part time course: 1,250 yen per month (in case of more than 16 credits) Correspondence course: 175 yen per month (per credit) (48 months)		
Application period	Application for certification of eligibility: around April at school entry (Submit to public senior high school etc.) Proof of income: around July every fiscal year (confirmation of standard taxable amount is necessary.)		
Period of payment	Devote to tuition following receipt from the national government (Not to be paid to student or parents/guardians)		
Application	Together with the following certificates, submit the application form to your school. Application for certification of eligibility (April): Submit application form along with documents to certify total amount of prefectural and municipal resident tax per income levy (total amount of parents/guardians, based on the income of the second preceding year) Proof of income (July): Record income, and documents related to <i>my number</i> or documents to certify the standard taxable amount of prefectural and municipal resident tax per income levy (total amount of parents/guardians, based on the income of the preceding year) If <i>my number</i> related documents have already been submitted, you can omit the process of submitting <i>my number</i> related documents or the documents to certify the standard taxable amount of prefectural and municipal resident tax per income levy.		
Enquire	For details, please contact the school where the student is registered or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516) In the case of Kyoto City municipal high school, etc., please contact Kyoto City Board of Education, Survey Division (Tel: 075-222-3817)		

	Application is necessary every year.
	There is a separate system for tuition reduction or exemption. Please consult your school
	in the case that it is difficult to pay tuition due to a sudden change of household finances
	such as job loss or bankruptcy, even though the household is/was not covered by the grant due to being over the income threshold.
	For students who have dropped out of school, a school enrollment assistance grant can
Remarks	be provided for a maximum of 12 months (maximum 24 months for
	part-time/correspondence courses) in the case that the student has registered for more
	than 36 months of a full-time course (48 months for part-time/correspondence course)
	and it has been confirmed that his/her base income amount is below the standard
	amount. Consult with your school for details.
	Students of public senior high school etc. registered at the end of 2013 fiscal year are
	eligible to be covered by a system of tuition exemption continuously.

[Support For Private Senior High School Students And Higher Professional Schools]

Name: Senior high school enrollment assistance grant (paid to schools)

Content	Provision of a part of private senior high school tuition fees to schools.		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	 Children who are registered at private senior high schools (including those located outside of Kyoto Prefecture): 1. Private senior high school (full time/part time/correspondence course) 2. Latter course of private secondary educational schools (high schools of unified lower and upper secondary schools) 3. Higher course of private special needs schools 4. Higher professional schools (1st - 3rd year) 5. Higher course of vocational schools Not applicable for those who graduated from high schools, students, non-degree students and auditing students of advanced courses or special courses 		
Grant amount	 ⟨For April, May and June 2020⟩ ➤ Total prefectural and municipal resident tax of persons in parental authority of less than 507,000 yen →The monthly amount of 9,900 yen (the annual amount of 118,800 yen) ➤ Total prefectural and municipal resident tax of persons in parental authority of less than 257,500 yen →The monthly amount will be increased to 33,000 yen (the annual amount of 396,000 yen) For correspondence courses The monthly amount will be increased to 33,000 yen (the annual amount of 396,000 yen) ⟨July 2020 onwards⟩ ➤ The total amount (local taxable income of persons in parental authority x 6% - the deduction amount of municipal resident tax of persons in parental authority) of less than 304,200 yen (in the cases of the ordinance designated city, the deduction amount of municipal resident tax will be multiplied by 3/4) → the monthly amount of 9,900 yen (the annual amount of 118,800 yen) ➤ The total amount (local taxable income of persons in parental authority x 6% - the deduction amount of municipal resident tax of persons in parental authority) of less than 154,500 yen (in the cases of the ordinance designated city, the deduction amount of municipal resident tax will be multiplied by 3/4) → The total monthly amount will be increased to 33,000 yen (the annual amount of 396,000 yen) For correspondence courses the monthly amount will be 24,750 yen (the annual amount of 297,000 yen). 		
Periods of application and payment	Varies according to school. Senior high school will notify you of further information on your application procedure.		
Application	Explanation will be given by school. Obtain application form from school and submit to school with documents school requires. A copy of your <i>my number</i> card is required.		
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your school, or Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (075-414-4516)		
Remarks	Application must be submitted annually.		

[Support for Private Senior High school Students]

Name: Learning support for students who are registered at private senior high schools (school fees reduction or exemption, or tuition reduction

Content	Reduce the burden on persons who pay the school fees and tuition for students registered at private senior high schools within Kyoto Prefecture so that students who desire to learn can study without anxiety. Students will be supported by reducing or exempting them from tuition fees, instead of receiving a subsidy.		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Students who are registered at private senior high schools within Kyoto Prefecture and whose parent(s)/guardian(s) are prefectural residents (including Kyoto City) *Students who are registered at higher professional schools or correspondence high schools whose headquarters located out of Kyoto Prefecture are not eligible.		
	 → Households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law → Tuition fees reduction (up to 929,000 yen) by utilizing the national learning Support For Private Senior High School Students And Higher Professional Schools (Page 79) and prefectural subsidy program*1 		
	 → Households whose annual income is less than 5,900,000 yen*2 → Tuition fees reduction (up to 650,000 yen) by utilizing the national learning Support For Private Senior High School Students And Higher Professional Schools (Page 79) and prefectural subsidy program 		
Grant amount	 Households whose annual income falls between around 5,900,000 yen and 9,100,000 yen*2 → Tuition fees reduction (up to 198,800 yen) by utilizing the national learning support subsidy programs for senior high school students (Page 79) and prefectural subsidy program (up to 80,000 yen per year (17,000 yen for correspondence course)). 		
	 *1 Figures are as of March 2020. *2 The annual income is based on a household composed of parents, and two children (senior high student and junior high school student) with only one of the parents working as an income earner. 		
Period of application and payment	June for tuition exemption and July-September for school fees reduction. Periods vary according to your school. * Application needs to be submitted annually.		
Application documents	Submit an application form and documents such as taxation certificate, which your senior high school requests, to your senior high school. Application form is available at your senior high school.		
Enquiry	For details, please contact your senior high school or the Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516·4517)		
Remarks	Households whose income falls under a certain standard due to drastic changes in their financial situations caused by unemployment or company bankruptcy may be eligible for tuition fee reduction or exemption at private senior high schools. Please contact your private senior high school.		

Name: School fees reduction for students who are registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo Prefecture

Content	Reduce the burden on persons who pay the school fees for students registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo or Nara Prefecture. Students will be exempted from tuition fees or supported, instead of receiving subsidy.		
Eligibility	Students who reside in Kyoto Prefecture (including Kyoto City) and are registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo Prefecture (excluding correspondence courses) as of October 1st on the relevant academic year, and receiving national learning support subsidy. *Students who are registered at higher professional schools are not eligible.		
	School location	Annual income of households*1	Annual subsidiary amount *2
		Covered by the Livelihood Protection Law	6,000 yen
	Hyogo	Less than 5,900,000 yen	6,000 yen
	Prefecture	Less than 7,300,000 yen	50,000 yen
Subsidiary amount		Less than 9,100,000 yen	25,000 yen
	*1 Annual income amounts shown above are based on model household. Please ask your school or Kyoto Prefectural Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division regarding the base amount. *2 In case that school fees to be paid for a year after deducting national learning support subsidy is less than the above subsidiary amount, the amount of school fees to be paid will be the maximum limit.		
Period of application and payment	Periods vary according to your school. *Application needs to be submitted annually.		
Application documents	Submit an application form, tax payment certificate and other necessary documents to your school. Application form is available at your school.		
Contact	For details, please contact your school or Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4517)		
Remarks	Note: In case that those who receive the senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant) (pages 44-46, 60-62) apply for this reduction, the amount of scholarship subsidy may be reduced.		

[Support for private high school advanced course students]

Name: Learning support for students who are registered for advanced courses at private senior high schools (paid to schools)

Content	A certain amount of money will be provided for students registered for advanced courses at private high schools.		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Students who study advanced courses at a private high school		
Grant amount	 ➤ Total prefectural and municipal resident tax of persons in parental authority of less 0 yen (tax exempt) → 35,600 yen per month (427,200 yen annually) ➤ Total prefectural and municipal resident tax of persons in parental authority of less than 85,500 yen → 17,800 yen per month (213,600 yen annually) 		
Period of application and payment	It varies by schools		
Application	Your school will notify you. Please fill in the form provided by the school and submit it along with the documents required by your school. Proof of income-based levy of your resident tax and prefecture tax (total tax of guardians) is required.		
Contact	For details, please contact your school or Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516)		
Remarks	You must apply annually.		

Name: Daily life welfare loan "Educational support fund" (interest-free loan)

Content	 Loans for children of low-income households who cannot receive other public educational support loans shown below, for some reason. Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (Page 51-53, 83-84) Single parent and child/widow welfare loan - Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free) (Page 49-50, 81) Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (Interest-free loan) (Page 56-57, 88-89) 						
Eligibility	Children of low-income households (the households with income standard within 1.8 times that of the basis stipulated by the Livelihood Protection Law) who are registered at senior high school students (including schools for special needs education (high school)), secondary schools (latter period course), vocational schools (high school courses) or higher professional schools.						
	The loan - up to	6 monthly payme	ents.				
		Type of school	s	Live-at-home commuters	Live-away- from-home commuters		
	High schools	National and Public	1st year – 3rd year	Up to 18,000 yen per month	Up to 23,000 yen per month		
		Private	1st year – 3rd year	Up to 30,000 yen per month	Up to 35,000 yen per month		
Loan amount	Higher professional schools	National and Public	1st year – 3rd year	Up to 21,000 yen per month	Up to 22,500 yen per month		
			4th – 5th year	Up to 44,000 yen per month	Up to 50,000 yen per month		
			1st year – 3rd year	Up to 32,000 yen per month	Up to 35,000 yen per month		
		Private	4th – 5th year	Up to 52,000 yen per month	Up to 59,000 yen per month		
		ıpper limits can b	e provided (specia	cularly necessary, u il loan). Please cons	p to 1.5 times of any of sult with your local		
Application (consultation) period	Please contact N	/Junicipal Council	s of Social Welfare	e (Page 7).			
Period of repayment	Repayments begin following a 3-month deferment period after graduation and are to be completed within a period equivalent to three times the loan period. In the case of receiving a special loan, repayments starting following a 3-month deferment period after graduation are to be completed within a period equivalent to four times the loaning period with a maximum period of 20 years.						
Contact	Municipal Counc	cils of Social Welf	are (Page 7)				
Remarks							

[Support for Senior High School Students etc.]

Name: Single parent and child welfare loan "learning loan" (interest-free loan)

Content	This loan is provided to children of single parent households to cover necessary expenses (tuition, textbooks, transportation, etc.)								
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture								
Eligibility	are currently supp (high school cour	Mothers and fathers of single parent households who reside in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) and are currently supporting children who study at senior high school including schools for special needs education (high school courses), higher professional schools, or vocational schools (high school courses). *Cannot receive in conjunction with "the same kinds of loans" shown in the remarks column below.							
	Learning loan (i	Learning loan (interest-free) (Unit: yen)							
				1 st year	2 nd year	3 rd year	4 th year	5 th year	
		National	Live-at-home commuters	Up to 27,000	Up to 27,000	Up to 27,000			
	Senior high schools Vocational	and public	Live-away- from-home commuters	Up to 34,500	Up to 34,500	Up to 34,500			
	schools (high school		Live-at-home commuters	Up to 45,000	Up to 45,000	Up to 45,000			
Loan amount	courses)	Private	Live-away- From-home commuters	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500			
		National and public	Live-at-home commuters	Up to 31,500	Up to 31,500	Up to 31,500	Up to 67,500	Up to 67,500	
	Higher professional schools		Live-away- from-home commuters	Up to 33,750	Up to 33,750	Up to 33,750	Up to 76,500	Up to 76,500	
		Private	Live-at-home commuters	Up to 48,000	Up to 48,000	Up to 48,000	Up to 79,500	Up to 79,500	
			Live-away- from-home commuters	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500	Up to 52,500	Up to 90,000	Up to 90,000	
Application (consultation) period Loan period	Consultation is of recommended to After the loan is a	consult wit	h the Welfare Offi	ce of the Ky	oto Prefect	ural Public	Health Cen	ter early.	
Application	Submit application form with the following documents to the Welfare Office of the Kyoto Prefectural Public Health Center. 1. Family register or certificate of contents in family register 2. Residence record of all the members in the household (must be stated in full) 3. Seal registration certificate 4. Proof of dependent(s) 5. Proof of earnings (income) 6. School certificate 7. Documents to proof necessary expenses such as school guide, tuition notification bill, etc. 8. Pledge and consent form Application forms are available at welfare offices.								
	Application forms	are availab	ole at welfare offic	es.					

Enquire	For details, please contact your local prefectural public health center (page 2,3)				
Remarks	 "The same kinds of loans" are; Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (Page 51-55, 83-86) Daily life welfare loan - education support loan (interest-free) (Page 47-48, 80) Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization scholarship (interest-free loan) (Page 56-57, 88-89) 				

[%]The above amounts are correct as of March 2020, and they are subject to change.

[Support for Senior High School Students etc.]

Name: Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)

Support diligent high school students etc. in financial difficulties, by providing loan or interest subsidy for loans from financial institutions.

Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture			
Type of loan	Senior high school etc. learning loan system (with no interest)	Learning support special loan interest subsidy system (interest subsidy)		
Content	Kyoto Prefecture directly provides students with loan.	For those whose annual income exceeds the standard for 1. Senior high school etc. learning loan system. Kyoto Prefecture covers the all interest paid by parents/guardians when getting special learning loans from financial institutions. The total amount paid in a year will be supplemented by the prefecture in a lump sum the next year.		
Eligibility	 Students at; senior high schools, secondary schools (latter period course) schools for special needs education (high school) vocational schools (high school courses) higher professional schools Students whose parents reside in Kyoto Prefecture (including Kyoto City) and the total income of the household is under the standard annual income specified. 	 schools for special needs education students (high school) vocational school (high school courses) students Students whose parents/guardians' income exceeds the standard for 1. Senior high school etc. 		
Loan amount	* Cannot receive in conjunction with loans des National and Up to 18,000 yen Public Monthly Private Up to 30,000 yen Monthly *Additional 5,000 yen is loaned for the case of Live-away-from-home commuters. * In case of receipt of the scholarship grant on page 57, the loan amount is adjusted, depending on the received grant amount.	National and Public Private National and Public In a lump sum Up to (for 3 years) 648,000 yen (for 3 yearly 216,000 yen (for 3 yearly 216,000 yen (for 3 years) 1,080,000 yen (for 3 years) 1,080,000 yen (for 3 yearly 200,000 yen (for 3 yearly 360,000 yen (for 3 yearly		
Application period	[Newly enrolled students] By mid-May Applications are accepted on a need basis after mid-May. [Current students] Applications are accepted on a need basis. (Loans shall be provided from the month following application)	[Newly enrolled students] By mid-May [Current students] By mid-May		

	Submit application form and proof of earnings to your school.					
Application and loan period	Application (by mid-May) Issuance of notice of loan determination by the Prefecture Loan (money transfer)	 Application for loan eligibility recognition (by mid-May) Issuance of certificate for loan eligibility recognition by the Prefecture Apply loan to financial institutions (by the end of August) Decision by financial institutions after examination Loan Apply to the Prefecture for interest subsidy paid in the year (next June) Interest subsidy will be paid by the Prefecture (next August) 				
Loan amount	Money transfer from the Prefecture is divided into two installments per year. For the amount covering the months of April through September: the end of June - the end of July (April from the 2 nd year) For the amount covering the months of October through March: the end of October	[Newly enrolled students] Either lump sum payments in the first year or installment payments (each year) [Current students] Installment payment only Loan periods vary according to period of application and each financial institution.				
Joint guarantor	One person (can be parent)	No joint guarantor is required, but a guarantee service (handling) fees must be covered by applicants				
Period of repayment	Within 20 years of the expiration of the loan period (In the case that there is a deferment period, repayments are to be completed within 20 years after the deferment period has ended)	The longest is within 7 years from the same or following month of the first loan payment.				
Enquire	For details, please contact your school or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7518)					
Remarks	Application of continuation must be made when moving up to next grade. "The same kinds of loans" are the following; 1. Single parent and child/widow welfare loan - Learning loan (interest-free loan) (Page 49-50, 81-82) 2. Part-time or correspondence course scholarship (Interest-free loan) (Page 73) 3. Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant) (Page 44-46, 60-62) 4. Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant) (Page 66) 5. Single mother household educational allowance etc. (grant) (Page 64-65) 6. School enrollment subsidy (Special needs education schools) (grant) (Page 68) 7. Nursing training loan (interest-free loan) (Page 106) 8. Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization scholarship (interest-free loan) (Page 56-57, 88-89) 9. Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization scholarship (grant) (Page.90) 10. Scholarship by other prefectures or public institutions The households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law may be subject to the senior high school enrollment social assistance (Page 59), please contact your local city welfare office in advance (Page 5-6).					

[Support for Senior High School Students etc.]

Name: Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning preparation loan) (interest-free loan or interest subsidy)

Support diligent high school students in financial difficulties, by providing loan or interest subsidy for loans from financial institutions.

Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture					
Type of loan	Senior high school etc. learning loan system (with no interest)	Learning support special loan interest-subsidy system (interest subsidy)				
Content	Kyoto Prefecture directly provides students with loan.	For those whose annual income exceeds the standard for 1. Senior high school etc. learning loan system. Kyoto Prefecture covers the all interest paid by parents/guardians when getting special learning loans from financial institutions. The total amount paid in a year will be subsided by the prefecture in a lump sum the following year.				
Eligibility	 Students at; senior high schools, secondary schools (latter period course) schools for special needs education (high school) vocational schools (high school courses) higher professional schools Students whose parents reside in Kyoto Prefecture (including Kyoto City) and the total income of the household is under the standard annual income specified. 	 Parents/guardians of; senior high school students secondary school students (latter period course) schools for special needs education students (high school) vocational school (high school courses) students higher professional schools Students whose parents/guardians' income exceeds the standard for 1. Senior high school etc. learning loan system, and reside in Kyoto Prefecture (including Kyoto City), and the main household earner's annual income is more than 1.5 million yen. 				
	 This support program is for those who are eligible for the Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan) (page 86-87). You cannot apply for this support program only. Cannot receive in conjunction with loans described in the remarks column below. 					
Loan amount	National: 50,000 yen (fixed amount) on enrollment Private: 250,000 yen (fixed amount) on enrollment					
Application period	By mid-May after enrollment					

	Submit application form and proof of earnings to	your school. Application forms are available at your school.				
Application and loan period	Application (by mid-May) Issuance of notice of loan determination by the Prefecture (through school) Loan (money transfer)	 Application for loan eligibility recognition (by mid-May) Issuance of certificate for loan eligibility recognition by the Prefecture (through school) Apply for loan to financial institutions (by the end of July) Decision by financial institutions after examination Loan Apply to the Prefecture for subsidy for interest paid during that year (next June) Interest subsidy will be paid by the Prefecture (next August) 				
Loan period	Between the end of June and the end of July	Depends on the period of application and financial institution				
Joint guarantor	One person (can be parent)	No joint guarantor is required, but a guarantee service (handling) fees must be covered by applicants.				
Period of repayment	Within 7 years of the expiration of the loan period (In the case that there is a deferment period, repayments are to be completed within 7 years after the deferment period has ended)	The longest is within 7 years from the same or following month of the first loan payment.				
Enquire	For details, please contact your school or Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7518)					
Remarks	 "The same kinds of loans" are the following; Single parent and child/widow welfare loan -school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free loan) (Page 49-50, 81-82) Senior high school student scholarship subsidy (grant) (Page 44-46, 60-62) Fund etc. for children of traffic victims (grant) (Page 66) Single mother household educational allowance etc. (grant) (Page 64-65) Daily life welfare loan - Education support loan (interest-free loan) (Page 47-48, 80) School enrollment subsidy (Special needs education schools) (grant) (Page 68) Scholarship by other prefectures or public institutions The households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law may be subject to the senior high school enrollment social assistance (Page 59), please contact your local city welfare office in advance (Page 5-6). 					

[Support for Students of Higher Professional Schools]

Name: Tuition fee reduction or exemption for higher education

Content	Provide reduction or exemption for tuition and enrollment fees for those who enter university, junior college, higher education, and vocational school.							
Operating body	National Govern	ment						
Eligibility	and students wh	Households who are exempt from resident tax or those who follow the same situation (existing students and students who have become a student from a fiscal year of 2020 are eligible). **Those who were eligible for the scholarship provided by JASSO are also eligible.						
	Maximum limit o		(annually) (Students fr	om the household that	are exempted from			
		National a	and public	Priv	/ate			
		Enrollment fee	Tuition fee	Enrollment fee	Tuition fee			
	University	About 280,000 yen	About 540,000 yen	About 260,000 yen	About 700,000 yen			
Grant amount	Junior college	About 170,000 yen	About 390,000 yen	About 250,000 yen	About 620,000 yen			
	Higher professional school	About 80,000 yen	About 230,000 yen	About 130,000 yen	About 700,000 yen			
	Professional school	About 70,000 yen	About 170,000 yen	About 160,000 yen	About 590,000 yen			
	Students who ar	e eligible for the reside	ent tax exemption can	receive 2/3 or 1/3 of th	e above amount			
Application period	Around April after you have entered university (Please confirm with your institution as it varies by school)							
Exemption or reduction period	After you have received a letter of confirmation of the reduction or exemption from your school following your application. (Please confirm with your institution as it is varies by school)							
Contact	For further information, please contact your university, or the university you are applying to.							
Remarks	► Homepage of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (New system of the school preparation for higher education) URL:https://www.mext.go.jp/kyufu/							

Name: Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (Ioan)

	1						
Content	Provide scholarship loans to students who are experiencing difficulty learning due to financial reasons. There are standards for scholastic ability and household income to be followed.						
Operating body	Independent Administra	Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization (JASSO)					
Eligibility	Third-year junior high school students who wish to enter higher professional and vocational schools, who are recommended by their school principals and selected by JASSO (Pre-enrollment application)						
Liigibility	Higher professional students who are recommended by their school principals and selected by the JASSO scholarship (Enrollment application)						elected by the
	Scholarship loans with	no interest (Ty	/pe1)			Monthly a	amount (Unit: yen)
	Type of schools	National ar	nd public		Priva	ate	*Regardless of
		ive-at-home commuters	Live-away- from-home commuters		Live-at-home commuters		type of schools or commuting
	First – third year	21,000	22,500	32,000)	35,000	10,000
	If the annual income of persons supporting the livelihood of the household is more to (guideline - annual income exceeds 6,260,000 yen for a four-member household concern parents and a public senior high school student commuting from home), the amount the sections below excluding the highest loan amount. (see the highlighted sections					household come), the amount whited sections)	posed of a student, vill be selected from
	Type of education Na		ational and public Live-away-		Privat		
	Commuting		Live-at-home from commuters			ve-at-home ommuters	Live-away- from-home commuters
				51,000		54,000	64,000
		45,000		40,000		40,000	50,000
Loan amount	University	20.000		20.000		20,000	40,000
Loan amount		30,000		30,000		30,000	30,000
		20,000		20,000		20,000	20,000 60.000
	Junior college, higher professional	45,000	'	51,000		53,000	50,000
	school (fourth and	30,000		40,000		40,000	40,000
	fifth years), vocational school	30,000		30,000		30,000	30,000
	(specialized courses)	20,000)	20,000		20,000	20,000
	In principle, payment is 2 Scholarship loans w Type of Education University, junior colle professional schools (fifth years), vocational school (specourses)	•					
	In principle, payment is transferred monthly.						

Application and payment periods	Post-enrollment application: Spring of the year of school entry (Please check with the school where you're registered.) First payment – Around June to August In principle, payments are made monthly.
Application	Post-enrollment application: Apply for the loan through the JASSO website. Before making an online application, obtain an application number from the school and submit the necessary documents, such as proof of income.
Guarantor system	It is the applicant's decision whether to use a human guarantor system or institutional guarantor system: Human guarantor; One person (when submitting a repayment pledge, two persons are required including a guarantor.) Institutional guarantor; No need for joint guarantor nor a guarantor if a guarantee commission is paid to an institutional guarantor. A guarantee commission is deducted from the monthly loan payment.
Period of repayment	Start from the 7 th month of the deferment period after the expiration of the loan period. For Type 1, choose ① or ②, for Type 2, follow ① ☐ Flat rate repayment system: decided in accordance with the total loan amount (up to 20 years) ② An income based repayment system: the amount of repayment is based on income level of the previous year and the repayment period will be decided from the monthly repayment amount.
Enquire	For details, please enquire your school.
Remarks	Website for Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization (scholarship program (loan)) URL:https://www.jasso.go.jp/shogakukin/seido/index.html

Name: Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (grant)

Content	Provide scholarship loans to students who are diligent and intelligent but are experiencing difficulty due to financial reasons; this is a grant scholarship to encourage continuing their studies.						
Operating body	Students who are becoming 3 rd and 4 th years at higher professional schools and are recommended by their principal as well as selected by JASSO (For pre-acceptance cases: a student is eligible after graduating to the next grade level). Recommendation criteria Household income: a student of a household which is exempted from residence tax or of similar household. Academic ability: a student must be eager to learn with not only grade but also motivation to learn such as evaluating reporting papers.						
	Varies depending on school from home)	type (National, Public and Private)	and commuting method (from home, not				
	Cabaala	Monthl	y payment				
	Schools	Live-at-home commuters	Live-away-from-home commuters				
	National and public	17,500 yen (25,800 yen)	34,200 yen				
Loan amount	Private	26,700 yen (35,000 yen)	43,300 yen				
	welfare facilities can receive Households that are eligible amount.	either 25,800 yen or 35,000 yen. for the resident tax exemption can re					
Application and payment periods		Spring when students are in 3 rd year at higher professional schools. After completing the application process when you have graduated to the next grade level.					
Application	Post-enrollment application: Apply for the loan through the JASSO website. Before submitting an online application, first submit the necessary documents and obtain an application number from your school. Necessary to submit the <i>My Number</i> of the student and person(s) supporting the livelihood of the household after submitting the application.						
Enquire	For more details, please enquire at your school.						
Remarks	 This application procedure is necessary even after graduating to the next grade level. Failure to do so will result in your application being annulled. It is possible to apply for both scholarship grants and scholarship loans with no interest. In case of applying for both scholarships, the monthly scholarship loan amount with no interest is limited. A student receiving the scholarship grant is eligible for the tuition exemption or reduction carried out by the school. This procedure also needs to be done after graduating to the next grade level. Website for Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization (scholarship program (loan)) URL:https://www.jasso.go.jp/shogakukin/kyufu/index.html 						

Section 8 – For University, etc. Enrollment Preparation

Name: Preparatory payment under the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provide costs to settle a new student life for students who are protected by the livelihood protection law are covered.
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City
Eligibility	Students of the households protected by the livelihood protection law, reaching age 18 and are applicable up to the 31 st March after his or her birthday and plan to go on to a special training facility. (Other special exceptions are applicable) **Categorized as a special training facility 1. University (including junior college) 2. Vocational school (Only enrolled at special courses) 3. Enrolled at a general course of polytechnic university, special course at polytechnic junior college 4. Fisheries university 5. Maritime technology junior college or maritime university 6. National nursing university 7. Vocational school (only enrolled for general courses) and various other schools that are approved by the welfare office (in case there is a possibility of becoming financially independent by generating income)
Grant amount	Commute from their home:100,000 yen Commute from a location other than their home: 300,000 yen
Application documents	Submit an application form and necessary attachments to your local municipal welfare office.
Contact	For details, please contact your local municipal welfare office (page 5-6).
Remarks	

Name: Daily life welfare loan (interest-free education support loan)

Loan outline	 (1) Educational support loan: loan for low-income households with necessary expenses for their children enrolling into universities etc. Until the time they can borrow other "public educational support loans *1", this serves as a "stop-gap fund *2". *1: other public educational support loans are the following two; 1. Single parent and child/widow welfare loan (interest-free) (Page 94-95) 2. Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (loan) (interest free • grant) (Page 97-99) *2: stop-gap fund is; The payment periods of the above two loans can be after April and it is possible that required amount of money cannot be prepared when it is necessary. This loan serves as a temporary "stop-gap fund" under the condition that a household applies for either of the above two loans. • When receiving the above loans, repayment should be made in a lump sum in December of the corresponding year in principle. • When not receiving above the loans, this loan will continue to be provided. When only receiving the above scholarship Type 2, additional loans can be provided if you are unable to pay the tuition fee (negotiable). (2) School enrollment preparation loan: loan to cover necessary expenses to enroll at university, junior college or vocational school. 				
Eligibility	Children of low-income households (with income standard within 1.8 times that of the basis stipulated by the Livelihood Protection Law) who are to enroll at university, junior college or vocational school.				
Loan amount	(1) Educational support loan: monthly loan up to 6 months Live-at-home commuters Live-away-from-home commuters Universities Education support loan Universities Education support loan Universities Private Universities Universities Private Up to 54,000 yen per month Up to 54,000 yen per month Up to 54,000 yen per month Up to 51,000 yen per month Up to 53,000 yen per month In the case that this loan is approved as being particularly necessary, up to 1.5 times of any of the above loan upper limits can be provided (special loan). Please consult with your local council of social welfare office (page 7)				
Loan consultation period	Please cons	ult at your local	social welfare co		er deciding a school of your
Period of repayment	 choice and confirming necessary expenses for enrollment by school brochure (autumn of 3rd year) (1) In the case that the education support loan program serves as a "bridge-gap fund", in principle, repayments must be made in a lump sum in December of the corresponding year. Otherwise, repayments begin following a 3-month deferment period after graduation and are to be completed within a period equivalent to three times the loan period. Repayments of the special loan are to be completed within a period equivalent to four times the loan period with the maximum period of 20 years). (same as page 80) (2) School enrollment preparation loan: begins following a 3-month deferment period after graduation and must be completed within a period equivalent to 8 years. 				
Contact	For details, p	lease contact y	our local municipa	al councils of social welfar	re (Page 7)
Remarks					

Name: Single parent and child welfare loan - Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free loan)

Content	Loan for children of single mother or father households to prepare for enrollment at university etc. (enrollment fee, tuition fees, book expenses, travel expenses)								
Operating body		Kyoto Prefecture							
Eligibility	Mothers and fathers of single parent households who reside in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) and are currently supporting children who are enrolling at university, junior college, or vocational school (professional /basic course) next year. *Cannot receive in conjunction with similar kinds of scholarship loans listed in the remarks column below.								
	Learning loan							ı	Jnit: yen
	Type of schools etc.	Year (Mo	onthly amou	nt)	1 st yr.	2 nd yr.	3 rd yr.	4 th yr.	5 th yr.
		National	Live-at-h		Up to 67,500	Up to 67,500			
	Junior colleges	and Public	Live-awa from-hon commute	ne	Up to 76,500	Up to 76,500			
	Vocational schools		Live-at-h	ers	Up to 79,500	Up to 79,500			
	(professional courses)	Private	Live-awa from-hon commute	ne	Up to 90,000	Up to 90,000			
		National and Public	Live-at-h commute		Up to 67,500	Up to 67,500	Up to 67,500	Up to 67,500	
	Universities -		Live-awa from-hon commute	ne	Up to 76,500	Up to 76,500	Up to 76,500	Up to 76,500	
Loan amount			Live-at-h commute		Up to 81,000	Up to 81,000	Up to 81,000	Up to 81,000	
		Private	Live-awa from-hon commute	ne	Up to 96,000	Up to 96,000	Up to 96,000	Up to 96,000	
	Vocational school (basic course)	_	regardless of school type or commuting method		Up to 48,000	Up to 48,000			
	Graduate	Master's	course		132,000	132,000			
	school	Doctoral	course		183,000	183,000	183,000		
	School enrollme	nt preparati	ion loan						
	Entry to univer	sities.	National and	Live-	Live-at-home commuters up to 370,000 yen				
	junior colleges	,	Public	-	Live-away-from-home commuters up to 380,000 yen				
	(professional c		Private	Live-at-home commuters up to 580,000 yen Live-away-from-home commuters up to 590,000 yen					yen
	Entry to vocati	onal school	s (basic	Live-	at-home co	mmuters u	p to 150,00	0 yen	
	courses)		•	Live-	away-from-	home comi	muters up t	o 160,000	yen

	Entry to graduate school (master's and doctoral courses)	National and Public Private	Up to 380,000 Up to 590,000			
Loan consultation period	Consultation is offered from the time children begin to consider their future scholastic plans. It is recommended to consult with your local welfare office of the Kyoto Prefectural Public Health Center early.					
Loan commencement	After the loan is approved and the documents have been dispatched.					
Application	Submit an application form to your local prefectural public health center with the following documents; [Learning loan] 1. Family register or certificate of contents stated in family register 2. Residence record of all the members in the household (must be stated in full) 3. Seal registration certificate 4. Proof of dependent(s) 5. Proof of earnings (income), etc. 6. School certificate (Learning loan) Acceptance letter (School enrollment preparation loan) 7. Documents to proof necessary expenses such as school guide, tuition notification bill, etc. 8. Pledge and consent form *Application form is available at public health centers.					
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local prefectural public health center (page 2,3)					
Remarks	The similar kinds of loans include: 1. Daily life welfare loan (interest-free education support loan) (Page 80) 2. Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (Ioan) (Page 88-89)					

[%]The above amounts are correct as of March 2020, and they are subject to change.

Name: Tuition fee reduction or exemption for higher education

Content	Reduce tuition fees for those who enter university, junior college, higher professional school or professional school.						
Operating body	National Government						
Eligibility	who have becon %Those who are	Households that are exempt from their resident tax or those who are in a similar situation (eligible for those who have become students since fiscal year of 2020 including those who have been already students. *Those who are eligible for the grant scholarship by Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization are also eligible to apply.					
	Maximum limits resident tax)	on the tuition reduction	n (annually) (Students	from households that a	are exempt from their		
		National a	and public	Priv	/ate		
		Enrollment fee	Tuition fee	Enrollment fee	Tuition fee		
	University	About 280,000 yen	About 540,000 yen	About 260,000 yen	About 700,000 yen		
Reduction amount	Junior college	About 170,000 yen	About 390,000 yen	About 250,000 yen	About 620,000 yen		
	Higher professional school	About 80,000 yen	About 230,000 yen	About 130,000 yen	About 700,000 yen		
	Professional school	About 70,000 yen	About 170,000 yen	About 160,000 yen	About 590,000 yen		
	Students who ar	e eligible for the reside	ent tax exemption can	receive 2/3 or 1/3 of th	e above amount.		
Application period	Around April after you have entered a university (Please confirm your school as it is varied by school)						
Reduction period	When you have received a letter of confirmation for the reduction or exemption from your school following your application. (Please confirm with your school as it varies by school)						
Contact	For further information, please contact your university or your applying university.						
Remarks	learning support	► Homepage of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (New system of learning support for higher education) URL:https://www.mext.go.jp/kyufu/					

Name: Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (Ioan)

Content	 Loans for students who are experiencing difficulty learning due to financial reasons [Types of loans] 1. Scholarship Type 1 (interest-free): those who are above a certain level of learning ability (school score of over 3.5) and meet the condition of household income*. 2. Scholarship Type 2 (with interest): those who are above a certain level of learning ability and meet the condition of household income (less strict than Type 1). → For those who receive one of the above two scholarships only (as an enrollment lump-sum loan) 3. School enrollment special loan scholarship (with interest): those who cannot receive "national educational loan" by Japan Finance Corporation *Applicable to those with an exemption on resident tax of fiscal year of 2019, those receiving welfare aid, those who are in a foster home, and those who will go on to display excellent grades after enrollment 							
Eligibility	(Pre-enrollment applica Students who wish to e accepted on recommen Institution	nroll at unive		-		•		
	Scholarship loans Type 1 (interest-free) If the annual income of the person(s) supporting the livelihood of the household is more than a certain amount (guideline - an annual income exceeds 6,260,000 yen for a four-member household composed of a student, parents and a public senior high school student commuting from home), the amount will be selected from the sections below excluding the highest loan amount. (see the highlighted sections)							
	Type of Education	Na	ational a	nd public	Priv	vate .		
	Commuting	Live-at-he commut		Live-away- from-home commuters	Live-at-home commuters	Live-away- from-home commuters		
				51,000	54,000	64,000		
		45,000	45,000	45,000 40,000	40,000	40,000	50,000	
	University			40,000	40,000	40,000		
		30,000	0	30,000	30,000	30,000		
		20,000	0	20,000	20,000	20,000		
Loop amount	Junior college,	45,000	0	51,000	53,000	60,000		
Loan amount	higher professional school (fourth and			40,000	40,000	50,000		
	fifth years),	30,000	0	40,000	40,000	40,000		
	vocational school (specialized			30,000	30,000	30,000		
	courses)	20,000	0	20,000	20,000	20,000		
	*Payment will be made	every month	in princi	ple.				
	Scholarchin loans Type 2 (with interest)							
	Scholarship loans Type 2 (with interest) Limit on loan (monthly)							
	Type of Education							
	University, junior college, higher professional school (fourth and fifth years), vocational school (specialized courses) *Payment will be made every month in principle.							

	School enrollment special loan scholarship						
	Type of school		National and pul	blic / live-at-home commute	ers and		
	Universities, junior colleges vocational school (professional course)		Choose from 100,000 yen, 200,000 yen, 300,000 yen, 400,000 yen, or 500,000 yen				
	Payment will be made at the timing of the first payment of Scholarship Type 1 and 2. *This scholarship is for those who have applied for Scholarship Type 1 and 2 only. You cannot apply for this scholarship by itself.						
		Type of	scholarship	Application period	Payment period		
Periods of application and payment	Reservation acceptance (before enrollment)	Type 1 Type 2 School enrollment special loan scholarship		Summer in the 3 rd year of the senior high school (Please check with the school with which you are registered.)	Around May or June		
	Registered acceptance (after enrollment)	Type 1 Type 2 School enrollment special loan scholarship		Spring after enrollment	Around June to August		
Period of repayment	Begins from the coming 7 month deferment period after the expiration of the loan period. For type 1, choose ① or ②, for type 2, follow ① ① Flat rate repayment system: Be decided in accordance with the total loan amount (up to 20 years) ② An income based repayment system: The amount of repayment is based on income level of the previous year and the repayment period will be decided from the monthly repayment						
Guarantor System	amount. Choose either the personal guarantee system or the institution guarantee system. 3 Personal guarantee system · · · a joint guarantor and 1 guarantor Institution guarantee system · · · applicant can receive guarantee coverage from guarantee institutions by paying a guarantee fee. A guarantee fee is deducted from the monthly scholarship payment.						
Apply to	 Reservation acceptance: the senior high schools or vocational schools (advanced course) where registered. Registered acceptance: Universities, junior colleges, vocational schools (professional course), etc. where registered 						
Remarks	 Other conditions apply for graduate schools Those who received reservation acceptance will need to apply at your school after enrollment. In case of failing to do so, your reservation will disappear. This loan is not available at some vocational schools. Please enquire at your school. 						
	Website for Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization (scholarship program (loan)) URL: https://www.jasso.go.jp/shogakukin/seido/index.html						

Name: Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Services Organization Scholarship (grant)

· ·	· ·				
vocational school (specialized JASSO (in the case of pre-act [Criteria for selection] Household income: Those whis similar financial situation. Academic ability: a student metal.	d courses) and are recommended be ceptance, there should be an official no are eligible for residence tax executes be eager to learn with not only	by their principal as well as selected by all acceptance after your entering school). Implied and households who are in a			
Varies depending on schools from home).	' type (national, public and private)	and commuting method (from home, not			
_ ,	Amount to be	granted monthly			
Type of school	Commute from home	Commute from other than home			
National and public	29,200 yen (33,300 yen)	66,700 yen			
Private	38,300 yen (42,500 yen)	75,800 yen			
Correspondence education)				
Type of school					
Type of deficer	Live-at-home commuters	Live-away-from-home commuters			
National and public	51,000 yen				
Private	(granted once in a year)				
Students of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law who are commuting from home or chil welfare facilities can receive either 33,000yen or 42,500 yen. Households who are eligible for the resident tax exemption can receive 2/3 or 1/3 of the above amount.					
		rollment.			
Before submitting an online a necessary documents to. XYou are required to submit	pplication, obtain an application nu the <i>My Number</i> of yourself and the	mber from the school you will submit the			
For more details, please enqu	uire at your school.				
 Application needs to be subapplication being annulled. It is possible to apply for bointerest will be limited by the some schools do not acceptle ase make sure of the eligities. A student receiving the schools procedure also needs to Website for Independent Adm 	omitted at the school you attend. Fatth scholarships with and without interaction amount that is granted monthly. On scholarships from JASSO (becaubility prior to your enrollment. Colarship grant is eligible for the tuiting be done after graduating to the new	terest loans, however, the one without use they are not registered with JASSO). on exemption or reduction by the school. xt grade level.			
	Students who are in their thir vocational school (specialized JASSO (in the case of pre-act [Criteria for selection] Household income: Those whis similar financial situation. Academic ability: a student mistudy, displayed through evaluated with the study, displayed through evaluated with the study of	Household income: Those who are eligible for residence tax exe similar financial situation. Academic ability: a student must be eager to learn with not only study, displayed through evaluating reporting papers etc. Varies depending on schools' type (national, public and private) from home). Amount to be Commute from home National and public 29,200 yen (33,300 yen) Private 38,300 yen (42,500 yen) Correspondence education Type of school Live-at-home commuters National and public 51, (granted of the school yen) Students of households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law welfare facilities can receive either 33,000yen or 42,500 yen. Households who are eligible for the resident tax exemption can be spring when students turn are in 3rd year at high school. After completing application process when you have finished endencessary documents to. You are required to submit the My Number of yourself and the completing the online application. For more details, please enquire at your school. Application needs to be submitted at the school you attend. For application being annulled. It is possible to apply for both scholarships with and without intinterest will be limited by the amount that is granted monthly. Some schools do not accept scholarships from JASSO (becau Please make sure of the eligibility prior to your enrollment. A student receiving the scholarship grant is eligible for the resident receiving the scholarship grant is eligible for the new Website for Independent Administrative Institution Japan Student Page 12 page			

Section 9 – For Employment Preparation After Graduating Junior High Schools and Senior High Schools (Including Schools for Special Needs Education) etc.

Name: Skill acquisition social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	In the case that financial support (e.g., tuition fees, textbook expenses, school commute expenses, etc.) is deemed necessary for a household's ability to be self-reliant and independent, these necessary expenses will be provided to persons covered by the Livelihood Protection Law to ensure skills acquisition at vocational schools.				
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City				
Eligibility	Persons covered by the Livelihood Protection Law who are registered at; 1. Vocational schools 2. Miscellaneous educational institutions				
	Livelihood Protection Law "occupational assistance"				
	Expense Item	Main Content	Base Amount		
Grant amount		Tuition fees, textbook expenses, qualifying examination fees, etc.	Up to 380,000 yen per year		
	Skill acquisition funds	School commute expenses (the minimum amount necessary to commute to school)	Actual amounts		
Periods of application and payment Application	Contact your local welfare office (Page 5-6) if you plan to enroll at vocational schools, etc.				
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local welfare office (Page 5-6)				
Remarks	The grant will not be provided in the case that a person enrolls at vocational schools immediately after senior high school graduation.				

[※]The above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020 and are subject to change.

[Support for Employment Preparation]

Name: Employment preparation fund according to the Livelihood Protection Law (grant)

Content	Provide a person covered by the Livelihood Protection Law with the necessary preparation expenses for the purchase of clothes and shoes, etc. when their employment is secured.						
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture/Kyoto City						
Eligibility	Person covered by the Livelih	ood Protection Law whose employment	is secured				
	Livelihood Protection Law "oc	Livelihood Protection Law "occupational assistance"					
	Expense Item	Main Content	Base Amount				
Grant amount	Employment preparation fees	Purchase of items such as clothes and shoes that are directly necessary for their employment	Up to 32,000 yen				
		Commuting expenses until the first salary is paid (In cases where this is necessary and excusable)	Actual amounts				
Periods of application and payment Application	Contact your local welfare office (Page 5-6) if your employment is ensured.						
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local welfare office (Page 5-6).						
Remarks							

[%]The above amounts are correct as of April 1st, 2020, and are subject to change.

Name: Skill acquisition fund/preparation fund for entry into institutions (grant)

Content	Provide those experiencing difficulties in skill acquisition due to financial reasons with job training subsidy for skill acquisition.						
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture						
Eligibility	The children of households residing in Kyoto enter job training institutions (excluding nurs graduating from a junior high school, a senior following categories: 1. Children of households covered by the Live 2. Children of households experiencing finant total income of the households is within 1 Livelihood Protection Law) Amount prorated basis of the Livelihood or family structure.	ing schools and assist or high school etc., and relihood Protection Law notal difficulties in receil 1.8 times that of the ba	ant nursing schools) after who fall under either of the w ving skill acquisition (the sis stipulated by the				
	Type of Institutions	Skill acquisition fund	Preparation fund for entry into institution				
Grant amount	Public human resources development facilities (Kyoto Prefecture Advanced Technical School etc.)	s 5,000 yen per Prefecture Advanced Technical month					
	Practical schools (vocational schools, various types of schools.)	55,000 yen					
	Schools taking the form of senior high school (Institutions for skills acquisition which provide senior high school graduation eligibility in collaboration with senior high schools, etc.)	21,000 yen per month	r				
	*The grant amount may be reduced in case that a child receives other similar grants such as skill acquisition social assistance (page 101), employment preparation fund (page 102) or tuition fee reduction or exemption for higher education (page 96).						
Application period	Second application period: middle of Application period: midd	 First application period: middle of March Second application period: middle of April After April, applications can be made all year round. 					
Period of payment	 [Skill acquisition fund] To be paid 3 times per year The first payment: late April (for the first application)/late May (for the second application) The second payment: August The third payment: December *Applications made after the above application periods will be provided on a case-by-case basis. [Preparation fund for entry into institutions] The full amount will be paid between April and June. 						
Application	Submit application form with school certificate and proof of earnings to your local prefectural public health center. (page 2-3)						
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local prefect	For details, please contact your local prefectural public health center (page 2-3).					
Remarks	Application must be made annually.						

[Support for Employment Preparation]

Name: Training benefit /enrollment preparation fund (grant)

Content	Provide people with disabilities who receive training at public human resources development facilities with training benefits. • Facilities within Kyoto Prefecture: Prefectural advanced technical schools, Polytechnic Center Kyoto • Facilities out of Kyoto Prefecture: National and prefectural public human resources development schools for disabled people • There are some exceptional job trainings that will not be eligible.				
Operating body	National G	overnment /K	(yoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	and/or lear	Job seekers who experience difficulties in finding jobs due to disability (physical/mental disabilities and/or learning disabilities) and who have been advised by the Public Employment Security Office (Hello-work) to receive training			
	Type of b	enefit		Grant amount	Content
		Base amou	nt	3,530 yen ~ 4,310 yen per day	For the number of days to receive training
	Training benefit	Skill acquisition benefit	Traveling to and from the facility benefit	Up to 42,500 yen per month	
			Job training benefit	500 yen per day (up to 40 days)	For the number of training days received
Grant amount		Boarding benefit*		Up to 10,700 yen per month	For the number of days boarded
	Enrollment preparation fund		35,000 yen	Only newly graduated disabled persons who are to receive training for over 6 months	
	*Boarding benefit is provided to those who are the earner of the household, and who must live away from home to receive this training.				
Application period	Upon enrollment				
Payment period	The 15th day of the following month				
Application documents	Submit application form and necessary documents (a copy of written advice for receiving a job-training and disability certificate, rehabilitation certificate, a copy of certificate of the mentally disabled) to the facility where you are receiving training. Application form is available at training facilities.				
Apply to	For details, please contact your local Public Human Resources Development Facilities (Hello-work).				
Remarks					

[Support for Employment Preparation]

Name: Job training support for people with disabilities (grant)

Content	Provide people with disabilities with training benefits while they receive workplace familiarization training* (there is a limit for training period) *Workplace familiarization training is on-the-spot training, to be provided to people with disabilities in order to facilitate their adapting to working environments.		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Job seekers who experience difficulties in finding jobs due to a disability (physical/mental disabilities and/or learning disabilities) and who have been advised by the Public Employment Security Offices (Hello-work) to receive training		
Grant amount	1) General workplace familiarization training Within 6 months (1 year for severely disabled people) [Base benefit] 3,530 yen ~ 4,310 yen per day [Skill acquisition benefit] • Job training benefit: 500 yen per day (up to		
	2) Short-term working familiarization training Within 2 weeks (4 weeks for severely disabled people) 40 days) Traveling to and from the facility benefit: Up to 42,500 yen per month		
Application period	All year round		
Payment period	General workplace familiarization training – 1 calendar month after the beginning of training, and the following month of the submission of workplace familiarization training implementation report Short-term working familiarization training – After the end of training, and the following month of the submission of workplace familiarization training implementation report		
Enquiry	For details, please contact your local Public Human Resources Development Facilities (Hello-work).		
Remarks			

[Support for Employment Preparation]

Name: Single parent and child/widow welfare loan –Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan (interest-free loan)

Content	Loan for children of single parent households to prepare for entering employment or starting business		
Operating body	Kyoto prefecture		
Eligibility	Mothers and fathers of single parent households who reside in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City) and are currently supporting children who need training loan or employment preparation loan. 1. Training loan: to acquire knowledge and skill required to start business or enter employment 2. Employment preparation loan: to prepare clothes and shoes etc. required to enter employment		
Loan amount	Training loan: Up to 68,000 yen per month Employment preparation loan: Up to 100,000 yen		
Application period	Consultation is offered from the time children begin to consider their future scholastic plans. It is recommended to consult with the Welfare Office of the Kyoto Prefectural Public Health Center early.		
Loan Commencement	After the loan is approved and the documents have been dispatched.		
Repayment of Loan	 Training loan - Repayment period begins after the 1st year deferment period following the acquisition of knowledge and skill. Employment preparation loan - Repayment period begins after the 1st year deferment period following the loan 		
Application documents	Submit application form with the following documents to your local prefectural public health center. 1. Family register 2. Residence record of all members in the household (must be stated in full) 3. Seal registration certificate 4. Proof of dependent(s) 5. Proof of earnings 6. School certificate 7. Documents to proof necessary expenses and course term such as school guide, tuition notification bill, etc. In case of a senior high school student in 3 rd grade taking drivers' license, documents which the head of school proof getting an official job offer, and drivers' license are necessary. 8. Pledge and consent form Application form is available at prefectural public health centers.		
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local prefectural public health center (see page 2,3).		
Remarks			

[%]The above amounts are correct as of March 2020, and they are subject to change.

Name: Nursing training loan (interest-free loan)

Content	Provide for those who have financial difficulties undergoing institutional training and who wish to engage in nursing jobs in Kyoto Prefecture with interest-free loans			
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture			
Eligibility	Those who are enrolled in training institutions for health care, midwifery, nursing, and assistant nursing and wish to receive the licenses within a year after graduating from training institutions and engage in respective nursing jobs at a medical institution in Kyoto Prefecture directly after. *Those who receive other kinds of scholarship may not be able to receive this loan. Please enquire for details.			
		National /public institutions	Private institutions	
Loan amount	Health care, midwifery, nursing (4 th or 5 th year)	32,000 yen per month	36,000 yen per month	
	Assistant nursing (1st, 2nd or 3rd year)	15,000 yen per month	21,000 yen per month	
Application period	April through May every year			
Period of payment	4 times per year (July, Septe	mber, December and March)		
Application documents	Submit application form with the following documents to your training institution. (Those who are enrolled at an institution outside Kyoto Prefecture must submit the necessary documents to Kyoto Prefectural Department of Health and Welfare, Medical Care Division directly) 1. School certificate /recommendation letter from training institution 2. Written pledge to submit proof of earnings /written consent of income and asset investigation 3. Kyoto Prefectural nursing training loan application statement Application form is available at training institutions within the prefecture, or can be downloaded from the Kyoto Prefectural website.			
Joint guarantor	2 guarantors (one of them mu	2 guarantors (one of them must reside in Kyoto Prefecture)		
Period of repayment	Repayment should be completed in a lump sum or by installments during the period of repayment			
Supervisory division	For details, please contact Department of Health and Welfare, Medical Care Division (Tel: 075-414-4746/4754)			
Remarks	Those who acquire a nursing license within one year after graduating from nurse training institutions and continue to work for five years as a nurse, etc. at any of the following institutions in Kyoto, that are covered under the repayment exemption program * are exempt from all repayments: As of March 31 ^{st,} 2020, ※ Content is subject to change at the time of employment. All hospitals in northern Kyoto Prefecture (Ayabe City and northward) Hospitals with fewer than 200 beds in Kyoto Prefecture Hospitals in Kyoto Prefecture with beds for patients with mental disease accounting for 80% or more of the total number of beds All clinics in Kyoto Prefecture Facilities for severely mentally and physically disabled children Former national sanatoria Facilities providing home-visit nursing care Nursing care facilities, medical clinics with nursing care			

Name: Certified care worker training loan (interest-free loan)

	T		
Content	Provide for those who have financial difficulties undergoing (or planning to undergo) institutional training to be a certified care worker and wish to take up jobs in Kyoto Prefecture with interest-free loans		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Those who are enrolled (or plan to enroll) in certified training institutions to be certified care workers or social workers and wish to take up respective jobs at institutions in Kyoto Prefecture immediately upon graduation. *Those who receive other kinds of scholarship may not be eligible for this loan. Please enquire fo details.		
Loan amount	 for training - 50,000 yen per month for preparation to enter institution - 200,000 yen for preparation to get a job – 200,000 yen (excluding persons who receive training whilst working) for preparation to take national examination – 40,000 yen per fiscal year (only for persons enrolled in certified training institutions to be certified care workers) For persons in households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law, there is an additional amount provided for living expenses, separate from the above loan amount. 		
Application period	April through May every year		
Period of payment	2 times per year (April, October)		
Application documents	Submit application form with the following documents to your training institution. (Senior high school students or others who are in households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law must submit the necessary documents to the Kyoto Prefectural Social Welfare Council) 1. Academic transcript 2. Residence record 3. Proof of earnings (income) (Joint surety's proof of earning if the applicant is a minor) 4. Other necessary documents * For those who are in households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law there are additional necessary documents. Please consult the Kyoto Prefectural Social Welfare Council (TEL: 075-252-6292).		
Joint guarantor	2 guarantors (one of whom must be a legal representative)		
Supervisory division	For details, please contact the Kyoto Prefectural Social Welfare Council (TEL: 075-252-6292).		
Those who register as certified care workers or certified social workers within one year of graduating from a training institution and continue to engage in the subject work for five year certified care worker or social worker at an institution in Kyoto covered under the repayment exemption program* are exempt from loan repayment.			

Name: Nursery school teacher training loan (interest-free loan)

Content	Provide interest free loans for those with excellent grades who are facing financial difficulties, who are undergoing (or planning to undergo) institutional training to become certified nursery school teachers and who wish to take up jobs in Kyoto Prefecture.		
Operating body	Kyoto Prefecture		
Eligibility	Those who are enrolled (or plan to enroll) in certified training institutions to become certified nursery school teachers and who wish to take up related jobs at institutions in Kyoto Prefecture immediately upon graduation. *Those who receive other kinds of scholarship may not be eligible for this loan. Please enquire for details.		
Loan amount	 for training - 50,000 yen per month for preparation to enter institution - 200,000 yen for preparation to get a job – 200,000 yen (excluding persons who receive training whilst working) 		
	For persons in households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law, there is an additional amount provided for living expenses, separate from the above loan amount.		
Application period	Varies depending on the year, please call Kyoto Prefecture Social Welfare Council at 075-252-6292 for further information.		
Period of payment	2 times per year (April, October)		
Application documents	Submit application form with the following documents to your training institution. (Senior high school students or others who are in households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law must submit the necessary documents to the Kyoto Prefectural Social Welfare Council) 1. Academic transcript 2. Residence record 3. Proof of earnings (income) 4. Other necessary documents * For those who are in households covered by the Livelihood Protection Law there are additional necessary documents. Please consult the Kyoto Prefectural Social Welfare Council (TEL: 075-252-6292).		
Joint guarantor	2 guarantors (one of whom must be a legal representative)		
Supervisory division	For details, please contact the Kyoto Prefectural Social Welfare Council (TEL: 075-252-6292).		
Remarks Those who register as certified nursery school teachers within one year of graduating from training institution, and continue to engage in such work for five to ten years as certified school teachers in Kyoto are covered under the repayment exemption program and are exempt from loan repayments.			

Reference materials

Name: Child allowance (grant)

Content	Provide grants to persons who raise children			
Operating body	National and municipal governments			
Eligibility	Persons who raise children who are 15 years old or younger If their children are 15 years old, they can receive grants until the graduation of junior high schools (until the first March 31st following the 15th birthday)			
	The loan amounts vary according to the income of r raised.	ecipients and the age of children being		
	Less than upper income limits			
	Age of child	Monthly amount per child		
	0 – less than 3 years old (uniform)	15,000 yen		
	3 years old – before graduating from elementary sch	ools		
Grant amount	First child and second child*	10,000 yen		
Gram amount	Third child and further children*	15,000 yen		
	Junior high school students	10,000 yen		
	March 31st following the 18 th birthday) Equal to or more than upper income limits 5,000 yen per month per child (uniform)			
Application period	All year round (when a child is born or foster child taken in, etc.)			
Period of payment	June (for months from February to May), October (for months from June to September), February (for months from October to January)			
Application	Submit an application form and necessary documents to your local municipal government. Application forms are available at local municipal governments. If you are a public servant, apply to your working place.			
Apply to/Enquire	For details, contact your local municipal government (page 4). If you are a public servant, contact your working place.			
Remarks	 In principle, a grant can be received if a child lives in Japan. (However, a grant can still be provided if a child living overseas (ex. studying abroad) meets certain conditions.) If parents are being separated resulting from reasons such as that they are discussing a divorce, either one of the parents who lives with the child has a priority of receiving the grant. If parents live overseas, a person to whom the parents delegate an authority to raise their child in Japan receives the grant. Parents/guardians of a minor who raise children receive the grant. The grants are provided to bodies who established a welfare facility or foster parents who raise children. 			

[Support for single parent households]

Name: Child support allowance (grant)

Content	The allowance is provided to a father or mother of single household who is raising a child, a father or mother who is suffering from severe disabilities, which is almost equivalent to the Grade 1 level of the National Pension scheme, or a person who fosters the child on behalf of father or mother. Foreigners are also eligible for the grant.	
Eligibility	Persons who raise a child (until the end of following academic year after reaching the 18 year of age) of single parent household *The grant is provided until the child reaches the 20 years of age if the child suffers from the middle or higher level of disability.	
Grant amount	The grant amounts may be subject to change due to the caregiver's income. There are income restrictions. Monthly payments between 10,180 yen and 43,160 yen Additional between 5,100 yen and 10,190 yen for the second child, and additional between 3,060 yen and 6,110 yen each for the third and further children per month. The above amounts (as of April 1, 2020) are subject to change due to consumer price changes.	
Application period	All year round	
Period of payment	May (for March and April), July (for May and June), September (for July and August), November (for September and October), January (for November and December), March (for January and February)	
Application	Submit an application form and necessary documents to your local municipal government. Application forms are available at local municipal governments.	
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local municipal government (page 4).	
Remarks		

Page 113

[Support for households raising a child with disabilities]

Name: Special child support allowance (grant)

Content	Provide a grant to father or mother who is raising a child at home and has custody of his/her child with middle or higher-level of physical or mental disabilities. Foreigners are also eligible for the grant.	
Eligibility	Persons who have custody of and are raising at home a child who is younger than 20 years old and has middle or higher level of physical or mental disabilities	
Grant amount	Grade 1 disability: 52,500 yen per month Grade 2 disability: 34,970 yen per month The above amounts (as of April 1 st , 2020) are subject to change due to consumer price changes. *The grant amounts may be subject to income restrictions due to the caregiver's income. *The grant is not provided if the child receives disability-related pensions. *The grant is not provided if the child resides in a welfare facility.	
Application period	All year round	
Period of payment	August (for months from April to July), December (for month from August to November) April (for month from December to March)	
Application Submit an application form and necessary documents to your local municipal governments. Application forms are available at local municipal governments.		
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact your local municipal government (page 4).	
Remarks		
Application period Period of payment Application Apply to/Enquire	Grade 2 disability: 34,970 yen per month The above amounts (as of April 1st, 2020) are subject to change due to consumer price changes. *The grant amounts may be subject to income restrictions due to the caregiver's income *The grant is not provided if the child receives disability-related pensions. *The grant is not provided if the child resides in a welfare facility. All year round August (for months from April to July), December (for month from August to November) April (for month from December to March) Submit an application form and necessary documents to your local municipal governments Application forms are available at local municipal governments.	

[Support for persons under the age of 20 with severe disabilities who need constant care]

Name: Welfare allowance for children with disabilities (grant)

Content	Provide grants	Provide grants to persons who need constant care in their daily lives due to severe disabilities.		
Operating body	National, Kyot	National, Kyoto Prefecture and Kyoto City		
	However, ther ① persons v ② persons v Welfare A ③ persons v incomes o	r the age of 20 who meet the following 1 - re are three exceptional cases of: who can receive public pension due to dis- who live in welfare facilities for children wit- act, or with disabilities, their spouses, or their sup- of the previous year exceeding certain lim	abilities, or the disabilities designated by the Child exporters under duty who received annual	
Eligibility	 Total eye Auditory of Functions No finger Function More than Suffering maintaining Physical in more severyday Mental im above co Multiple of 	 Auditory capacity using hearing aids is lower than the level of discerning sounds. Functions of both upper limbs are severally impaired. No fingers of both upper limbs are left. Function of both lower limbs has been totally lost. More than half the mass of both thighs has been lost. Suffering from upper/core body function disabilities which prevent the person from maintaining a seating position Physical impairments or symptoms requiring a long-term rest, which are equivalent to or more severe than the levels described in the above conditions, and make maintaining an everyday life without helpers impossible are observed. Mental impairments that are equivalent to, or more severe than the levels described in the above conditions are observed. Multiple disabilities of physical functions, symptoms or mental impairments that are equivalent to, or more severe than the levels described in the above conditions are 		
Grant amount	Monthly 14,88	Monthly 14,880 yen (the amounts vary according to consumer price changes)		
Application period	All year round	All year round		
Period of payment	February (for months from November to January), May (months from February to April), August (months from May to July), November (for months from August to October)			
Submit an application form and necessary documents to the following offices are available at each office:		o the following offices. Application forms		
Applications		For Kyoto City residents	Welfare offices of the ward	
Applications	Contacts	For residents in cities excluding Kyoto City	City halls	
		For residents in towns and villages	Town and village offices	
Enquire	For details, ple	For details, please contact your local ward office (or health center if you live in a town or village).		
Remarks				

Page 115

[Support for single parent households]

Name: Small sum Ioan from Mother-and-Child welfare organization (interest-free Ioan)

Content	Incorporated Association Kyoto Prefectural Welfare Federation for Mother-and-Child and Widowed Households provides small sum loans to stabilize mothers', children's and widows' lives at each local branch.
Eligibility	Mothers of mother-and-child households and widows who live in Kyoto Prefecture (excluding Kyoto City).
Grant amount	- For living: Maximum 50,000 yen - For schooling: Maximum 50,000 yen - For housing: Maximum 50,000 yen
Period of payment	All year round
Application procedures	Please consult your local branch of Incorporated Association Kyoto Prefectural Welfare Federation for Mother-and-Child and Widowed Households
Apply to/Enquire	For details, please contact the Incorporated Association Kyoto Prefectural Welfare Federation for Mother-and-Child and Widowed Households (Tel: 075-223-1360).
Remarks	

Kyoto Prefectural Government Supervisory Divisions for Each Support System

Section 1: Support for Babies and Infants

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
9	Single mother household educational allowance (grant)	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
10	Fund etc. for children of traffic victims	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)
11	Subsidy for childcare fees exemption project for the third and further children (exemption/grant)	Department of Health and Welfare, Comprehensive Children's and Youth's Affairs Office (Tel: 075-414-4727)
12	School enrollment subsidy	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5835)

Section 2: Preparing for entering elementary school

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
15	Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564, 4558)
16	Single parent and child/widow welfare interest-free loan for school enrollment preparation	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)

Section 3: Support for Elementary School Students

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
18	Single mother household educational allowance	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
19	Fund etc. for children of traffic victims	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)
20	Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564, 4558)
21	School enrollment support subsidy	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, School Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5831)
22	School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs classes)	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division
23	School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs schools)	(Tel: 075-414-5835)
25	Learning support subsidy for private junior high school students (for school)	Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516)
26	School trip subsidy	Department of Health and Welfare, Regiona Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564,4558)
27	Learning subsidy for children at non-Japanese schools	

Section 4: Preparing for Entering Junior High School

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
29	Social assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564, 4558)
30	Single parent and child/widow welfare interest-free loan for school enrollment preparation	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)

Section 5: Support for Junior High School Students

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
32	Single mother household educational allowance	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
33	Fund etc. for children of traffic victims	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)
34	Educational assistance subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564, 4558)
35	School enrollment support subsidy	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, School Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5831)
36	School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs classes)	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department
37	School enrollment subsidy (for children at special needs schools)	of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5835)
39	Learning support subsidy for private junior high school students (for school)	Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516)
40	School trip subsidy	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564, 4558)
41	Learning subsidy for students at non-Japanese schools	

Section 6: Preparing for Entering Senior High School, etc.

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
43	Senior high school enrollment social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564,
44	Senior high school student scholarship subsidy	4558)
47	Daily life welfare loan - Education support loan	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4605, 4556)
49	Single parent and child/widow welfare loan - Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
51	Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan)	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7518)
54	Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning preparation loan)	

Section 7: Support for Senior High School Students etc.

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
59	Senior high school enrollment social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564,
60	Senior high school student scholarship subsidy	4558)
63	Senior high school student social assistance subsidy	Public schools: Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7539) Private schools: Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516)
64	Single mother household educational allowance etc.	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
66	Fund etc. for children of traffic victims	Department of Citizen's Affairs and the Environment, Community Safety Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-5076)
68	School enrollment subsidy (Special Needs Education Schools)	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Special Needs Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5835)
70	Funding to cover commuting expenses of senior high school students	Public schools: Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516) Private schools: Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4517)
72	Subsidies for part-time or correspondence course textbook fees	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516)
73	Part-time or correspondence course scholarship	Public schools: Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516) Private schools: Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4517)
74	Public senior high school enrollment assistance grant	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7516)
76	Senior high school enrollment assistance grant	Department of Culture and Sports
77	Learning support for students who are registered at private senior high schools (School fees reduction and tuition exemption)	Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516)
78	School fees reduction for students who are registered at private senior high schools in Hyogo Prefecture	Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4517)
79	Learning support for students who are registered for advanced courses at private senior high schools	Department of Culture and Sports, Education Division (Tel: 075-414-4516)
80	Daily life welfare loan "Educational support fund"	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4605, 4556)
81	Single parent and child welfare loan "learning loan"	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)

83	Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning loan)	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-574-7518)
85	Senior high school student etc. learning support project (learning preparation loan)	
87	Tuition fee reduction or exemption for higher education	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5849)

Section 8: For University etc. Enrollment Preparation

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
92	Enrollment preparation subsidy according to the Livelihood Protection System	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564,4558)
93	Daily life welfare loan	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4605, 4556)
94	Single parent and child welfare loan –Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
96	Tuition fee reduction or exemption for higher education	Kyoto Prefectural Board of Education, Department of Guidance, Senior High School Education Division (Tel: 075-414-5849)

Section 9: For Employment Preparation After Graduating Junior High Schools and Senior High Schools (Including Schools for Special Needs Education) etc.

Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
101	Skill acquisition social assistance according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Walfara Degional
102	Employment preparation fund according to the Livelihood Protection Law	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4564, 4558)
103	Skill acquisition fund/preparation fund for entry into institutions	
104	Training benefit /enrollment preparation fund	Department of Commerce, Labor and Tourism, Human Resources Development Promotion Division(Tel: 075-414-5101)
105	Job training support for people with disabilities	Department of Commerce, Labor and Tourism, Human Resources Promotion Office (Tel: 075-682-8918)
106	Single parent and child welfare loan –Learning loan & school enrollment preparation loan	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
107	Nursing training loan	Department of Health and Welfare, Medical Care Division (Tel: 045-414-4746, 4754)
108	Certified care worker training loan (interest-free loan)	Department of Health and Welfare, Regional Welfare Promotion Division (Tel: 075-414-4561)
109	Certified nursery teacher training loan	Department of Health and Welfare, Comprehensive Children's and Youth's Affairs Office (Tel: 075-414-4581)

Reference materials

INCICIN	ilelice illaterials	
Page	Support System	Supervisory Division
111	Child allowance	Department of Health and Welfare, Comprehensive Children's and Youth's Affairs Office (Tel: 075-414-4581)
112	Child support allowance	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)
113	Special child support allowance	
114	Welfare allowance for children with disabilities	Department of Health and Welfare, Support for Persons with Disabilities Division (Tel: 075-414-4606)
115	Small sum loan from Mother-and-Child welfare organization	Department of Health and Welfare, Family Assistance Division (Tel: 075-414-4585)